Public Document Pack
Email: committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk
Direct line: 01403 215465

Planning Committee (North)
Tuesday, 1st December, 2020 at 5.30 pm
via Remote Video Link

Councillors:

Liz Kitchen (Chairman)
Karen Burgess (Vice-Chairman)
Matthew Allen
Andrew Baldwin
Tony Bevis
Toni Bradnum
Alan Britten
Peter Burgess
Roy Cornell
Christine Costin
Brian Donnelly
Ruth Fletcher
Billy Greening
Frances Haigh
Tony Hogben

Richard Landeryou
Gordon Lindsay
John Milne
Colin Minto
Christian Mitchell
Godfrey Newman
Louise Potter
Stuart Ritchie
David Skipp
Ian Stannard
Claire Vickers
Belinda Walters
Tricia Youtan

You are summoned to the meeting to transact the following business
Glen Chipp
Chief Executive

Agenda

Page No.
GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Minutes
To approve as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 3 November 2020
(Note: If any Member wishes to propose an amendment to the minutes they
should submit this in writing to committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk at least 24
hours before the meeting. Where applicable, the audio recording of the
meeting will be checked to ensure the accuracy of the proposed amendment.)

3.

Declarations of Members' Interests
To receive any declarations of interest from Members of the Committee

4.

Announcements
To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Committee or the
Chief Executive

Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded) Horsham.gov.uk Chief Executive – Glen Chipp

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

7 - 10

To consider the following reports of the Head of Development and to take such action thereon
as may be necessary:
5.

Appeals

11 - 12

Applications for determination by Committee:
6.

DC/20/0614 - Smith and Western, 37 North Parade, Horsham

13 - 34

Ward: Trafalgar
Applicant: Mr and Mrs Tom Cox
7.

DC/20/0321 - Kings Mill, School Lane, Shipley

35 - 64

Ward: Southwater South and Shipley
Applicant: Mr and Mrs C Eustace
8.

DC/20/0322 - Kings Mill, School Lane, Shipley

65 - 80

Ward: Southwater South and Shipley
Applicant: Mr and Mrs C Eustace
9.

DC/20/0618 - Land at the junction of East Street, Burnt House Lane and
Lambs Green Road, Chowles, Rusper

81 - 94

Ward: Colgate and Rusper
Applicant: Thames Water Utilities Ltd
10.

DC/20/1226 - Burtons Court, Park Way, Horsham

95 - 106

Ward: Denne
Applicant: Horsham District Council
11.

DC/20/1724 - 139 Churchill Way, Broadbridge Heath
Ward: Broadbridge Heath
Applicant: Mrs S Penne

12.

Urgent Business
Items not on the agenda which the Chairman of the meeting is of the opinion
should be considered as urgent because of the special circumstances

107 - 112

Agenda Annex
GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
(Full details in Part 4a of the Council’s Constitution)
Addressing the
Committee

Members must address the meeting through the Chair. When the
Chairman wishes to speak during a debate, any Member speaking at
the time must stop.

Minutes

Any comments or questions should be limited to the accuracy of the
minutes only.

Quorum

Quorum is one quarter of the total number of Committee Members. If
there is not a quorum present, the meeting will adjourn immediately.
Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the
Chairman. If a date is not fixed, the remaining business will be
considered at the next committee meeting.

Declarations of
Interest

Members should state clearly in which item they have an interest and
the nature of the interest (i.e. personal; personal & prejudicial; or
pecuniary). If in doubt, seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in
advance of the meeting.

Announcements

These should be brief and to the point and are for information only – no
debate/decisions.

Appeals

The Chairman will draw the Committee’s attention to the appeals listed
in the agenda.

Agenda Items

The Planning Officer will give a presentation of the application, referring
to any addendum/amended report as appropriate outlining what is
proposed and finishing with the recommendation.

Public Speaking on
Agenda Items
(Speakers must give
notice by not later than
noon two working
days before the date
of the meeting)

Parish and neighbourhood councils in the District are allowed 5 minutes
each to make representations; members of the public who object to the
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall
limit of 6 minutes; applicants and members of the public who support the
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall
limit of 6 minutes. Any time limits may be changed at the discretion of
the Chairman.

Rules of Debate

The Chairman controls the debate and normally follows these rules
but the Chairman’s interpretation, application or waiver is final.
- No speeches until a proposal has been moved (mover may explain
purpose) and seconded
- Chairman may require motion to be written down and handed to
him/her before it is discussed
- Seconder may speak immediately after mover or later in the debate
- Speeches must relate to the planning application under discussion or
a personal explanation or a point of order (max 5 minutes or longer at
the discretion of the Chairman)
- A Member may not speak again except:
o On an amendment to a motion
o To move a further amendment if the motion has been
amended since he/she last spoke
o If the first speech was on an amendment, to speak on the
main issue (whether or not the amendment was carried)
o In exercise of a right of reply. Mover of original motion

Page 3

-

-

-

-

has a right to reply at end of debate on original motion
and any amendments (but may not otherwise speak on
amendment). Mover of amendment has no right of reply.
o On a point of order – must relate to an alleged breach of
Council Procedure Rules or law. Chairman must hear
the point of order immediately. The ruling of the
Chairman on the matter will be final.
o Personal explanation – relating to part of an earlier
speech by the Member which may appear to have been
misunderstood. The Chairman’s ruling on the
admissibility of the personal explanation will be final.
Amendments to motions must be to:
o Refer the matter to an appropriate body/individual for
(re)consideration
o Leave out and/or insert words or add others (as long as
this does not negate the motion)
One amendment at a time to be moved, discussed and decided
upon.
Any amended motion becomes the substantive motion to which
further amendments may be moved.
A Member may alter a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
A Member may withdraw a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
The mover of a motion has the right of reply at the end of the debate
on the motion (unamended or amended).

Alternative Motion to
Approve

If a Member moves an alternative motion to approve the application
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to refuse), and it is
seconded, Members will vote on the alternative motion after debate. If a
majority vote against the alternative motion, it is not carried and
Members will then vote on the original recommendation.

Alternative Motion to
Refuse

If a Member moves an alternative motion to refuse the application
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to approve), the
Mover and the Seconder must give their reasons for the alternative
motion. The Director of Planning, Economic Development and Property
or the Head of Development will consider the proposed reasons for
refusal and advise Members on the reasons proposed. Members will
then vote on the alternative motion and if not carried will then vote on
the original recommendation.

Voting

Any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those voting, by show
of hands or if no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting unless:
- Two Members request a recorded vote
- A recorded vote is required by law.
Any Member may request their vote for, against or abstaining to be
recorded in the minutes.
In the case of equality of votes, the Chairman will have a second or
casting vote (whether or not he or she has already voted on the issue).

Vice-Chairman

In the Chairman’s absence (including in the event the Chairman is
required to leave the Chamber for the debate and vote), the ViceChairman controls the debate and follows the rules of debate as above.

Page 4

Original recommendation to APPROVE application
Members in support during debate

Members not in support during debate

Vote on original recommendation

Majority in favour?
Original recommendation
carried – APPROVED

Majority against?
Original recommendation
not carried – THIS IS NOT
A REFUSAL OF THE APPLICATION

Member to move
alternative motion
to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)

Member to move
alternative motion
to REFUSE and give
planning reasons

Member to move
alternative motion
to DEFER and give
reasons (e.g. further
information required)

Another Member
seconds

Another Member
seconds

Another member
seconds

Page 5

Director considers
planning reasons

Vote on alternative
motion to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)
carried – APPROVED

If reasons are valid
vote on alternative
motion to REFUSE1

Majority against?
Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
Alternative motion
to APPROVE with
to REFUSE carried
amended condition(s) - REFUSED
not carried – VOTE ON
ORIGINAL RECOMMENDATION*

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to REFUSE not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated
1

If reasons are not valid
VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Subject to Director’s power to refer application to Full Council if cost implications are likely.

Vote on alternative
motion to DEFER

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to DEFER carried
- DEFERRED

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to DEFER not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Original recommendation to REFUSE application
Members in support during debate

Members not in support during debate

Vote on original recommendation

Majority in favour?
Original recommendation
carried – REFUSED

Majority against?
Original recommendation
not carried – THIS IS NOT AN
APPROVAL OF THE APPLICATION

Member to move
alternative motion
to APPROVE and give
planning reasons2

Member to move
alternative motion
to DEFER and give
reasons (e.g. further
information required)

Another Member
seconds

Another member
seconds

Page 6

Director considers
planning reasons

If reasons are valid
vote on alternative
motion to APPROVE

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE carried
- APPROVED

*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated

2

Oakley v South Cambridgeshire District Council and another [2017] EWCA Civ 71

If reasons are not valid
VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Vote on alternative
motion to DEFER

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to DEFER carried
- DEFERRED

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to DEFER not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Agenda Item 2
Planning Committee (North)
3 NOVEMBER 2020

Present:

Councillors: Liz Kitchen (Chairman), Karen Burgess (Vice-Chairman),
Matthew Allen, Andrew Baldwin, Toni Bradnum, Alan Britten,
Peter Burgess, Christine Costin, Brian Donnelly, Ruth Fletcher,
Billy Greening, Frances Haigh, Richard Landeryou, Gordon Lindsay,
John Milne, Colin Minto, Christian Mitchell, Godfrey Newman,
Louise Potter, Stuart Ritchie, David Skipp, Ian Stannard, Claire Vickers
and Tricia Youtan

Apologies:

Councillors: Tony Bevis, Roy Cornell, Tony Hogben and
Belinda Walters

PCN/49 MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 6 October were approved
as a correct record and would be signed by the Chairman at a later date.
PCN/50 DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS
DC/19/1386: There were no declarations of interest. Councillor Tricia Youtan
stated that she did not have a personal and prejudicial interest because she
was confident that this application would not affect her or her family’s wellbeing
or financial position to a greater extent than any other person in the village.
She stated that she had sought advice from and clarified her position with the
Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting.
PCN/51 ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no announcements.
PCN/52 APPEALS
The list of appeals lodged, appeals in progress and appeal decisions, as
circulated, was noted.
PCN/53 DC/19/1386 - LAND NORTH OF SLINFOLD CRICKET CLUB, LYONS
ROAD, SLINFOLD
The Head of Development reported that this application sought outline
permission for the erection of up to 24 dwellings, including eight (35%)
affordable units, with access from Lyons Road, landscaping and associated
works. The demolition of the existing cricket pavilion and replacement with new
two-storey cricket pavilion, 25 car parking spaces and ball-stop netting along
the boundary with the cricket club were included in the proposal.

1

Page 7

Planning Committee (North)
3 November 2020

Matters for consideration under this outline application were the principle of the
development and access, with all other matters reserved for future
determination. Access would be via an existing track, upgraded for vehicular
access with visibility splays and paving.
Since publication of the report, an addendum had been published which
included:
Details of eight further representations received, all objecting to the proposal.
Updated information regarding amended plans to allow the retention of four
trees, including a large oak tree (T41), and planting of trees within the
proposed hedgerow. Because of these amendments, Condition 9 would no
longer be required, and Condition 22 would be revised to include T41.
Advice that West Sussex County Council Highways officers had confirmed
that the bus stop pole on the eastern corner of the access road could be
moved as required as part of the Road Safety Audit process.
A small number of Barbastelle bats that had been observed in the locality,
which was located within a bat sustenance zone. The recommendation in
the report should therefore be amended so that approval of outline
permission was subject to no objection from Natural England.
The application site was located just within the built-up area boundary of
Slinfold, north of Slinfold Cricket Club and included two large agricultural
storage barns with hardstanding, and an area of grass. There were two offices
in converted barns directly north of the site beyond which were open fields, with
fields to the east as well. There were a number of listed buildings in the
adjacent Slinfold Conservation Area to the west.
The Parish Council did not object to the principle of the application, but sought
clarification regarding the access, highway layout and design. There had been
60 representations from 24 households objecting to the application and three
letters from two households in support, as outlined in the report. Since
publication of the report a further eight representations objecting to the proposal
had been received, as outlined in the addendum. Three members of the public
spoke in objection to the application. The applicant’s agent and one member of
the public addressed the Committee in support of the proposal. A
representative of the Parish Council spoke in objection to the proposal.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; affordable housing and housing mix; the indicative layout, scale
and appearance; heritage impacts; landscape and trees; amenity of
neighbouring residents and future occupants; highways and access; public
rights of way; and ecology.
It was proposed that the application be refused. The motion was seconded.

Page
2 8

Planning Committee (North)
3 November 2020

3

Following legal advice, the Chairman invited discussion of the item before the
Committee were asked to vote on the proposal to refuse the application, and
the discussion proceeded.
Members discussed the scale of the proposal and how it related to the
Neighbourhood Plan, in particular with regard to access arrangements and the
indicative housing mix.
There was concern that the access arrangements, including the scale of the
road junction and footways, would have an unacceptably urbanising impact on
Lyons Road. A Member asked the question as to whether the Committee
should consider a deferral of the item, and this was discussed, but no formal
proposal was made.
The motion to refuse the application was put to the Committee and was carried.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/19/1386 be refused for the following
reasons:
The scale of the proposed access from and on to Lyons Road would result
in an unacceptably hard and urbanising impact on the rural character of
the Lyons Road which is contrary to policy 32 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework and to policy 8 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan.

The meeting closed at 6.50 pm having commenced at 5.30 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page3 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Planning Committee (NORTH)
Date: 1st December 2020
Report on Appeals: 22nd October 2020 – 18th November 2020
1.

Appeals Lodged

Horsham District Council have received notice from the Planning Inspectorate that the following
appeals have been lodged:
Date
Lodged

Ref No.

Site

DC/19/1897

Land at Wellcross Farm
Broadbridge Heath
West Sussex

2.

11-Nov-20

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution
Application
Permitted

Application
Refused

Appeals started

Consideration of the following appeals has started during the period:
Ref No.

Site

Appeal
Procedure

Start Date

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution

Scout Hall
104 Bishopric
DC/19/1639 Horsham
West Sussex
RH12 1QN

Written
Representation

22-Oct-20

Application
Permitted

Application
Refused

Spinroute Ltd
CCM Depot
Rusper Road
DC/19/2216 Ifield
Crawley
West Sussex
RH11 0LQ

Public Inquiry

23-Oct-20

Application
Refused

N/A

Smithers Farm
Guildford Road
Rudgwick
DC/20/0257
Horsham
West Sussex
RH12 3BX

Written
Representation

27-Oct-20

Application
Refused

N/A

98 Billingshurst Road
Broadbridge Heath
DC/20/0806 Horsham
West Sussex
RH12 3LP

Fast Track

28-Oct-20

Application
Refused

N/A

Page 11

3.

Appeal Decisions

HDC have received notice from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government that
the following appeals have been determined:
Ref No.

Site

Appeal
Procedure

DC/19/1537

13 Global House
Market Square
Horsham
West Sussex
RH12 1EU

Written
Appeal
Representation Dismissed

Application
Permitted

Application
Refused

DC/19/1345

Global House
13 Market Square
Horsham
West Sussex
RH12 1EU

Written
Appeal
Representation Dismissed

Application
Permitted

Application
Refused

DC/19/1849

Dunnocks
Emms Lane
Brooks Green
Horsham
West Sussex
RH13 0TR

Written
Appeal
Representation Dismissed

Application
Refused

N/A

DC/19/1824

19 Hernbrook Drive
Horsham
West Sussex
RH13 6EW

Written
Appeal
Representation Dismissed

Application
Refused

N/A

DC/19/0326

Land North of
Raylands Park
Jackrells Lane
Southwater
West Sussex

Written
Appeal
Representation Dismissed

Application
Refused

N/A

Page 12

Decision

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution

Agenda Item 6
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development

DATE:

1st December 2020

DEVELOPMENT:

Demolition of existing restaurant facility and erection of 22 residential
apartments including all associated landscaping and external works

SITE:

Smith and Western 37 North Parade Horsham West Sussex RH12 2QR

WARD:

Trafalgar

APPLICATION:

DC/20/0614

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr and Mrs Tom Cox Address: C/O Agent

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than 8 persons in different households
have made written representation raising
material planning considerations that are
inconsistent with the recommendation of the
Head of Development.
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions and the
completion of a s106 legal agreement to secure the provision a
contribution towards off site Affordable Housing.
In the event that the legal agreement is not completed within three months
of the decision of this Committee, the Director of Place be authorised to
refuse permission on the grounds of failure to secure the obligations
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms.

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

The application seeks the demolition of the existing Smith and Western restaurant facility
and the erection of a contemporary flatted development comprising a total of 22 residential
apartments along with all associated landscaping, external works including the provision of
28 car parking spaces (including 4 allocated spaces, 22 unallocated spaces and 2 disabled
spaces) and 24 cycle spaces.

1.3

The development includes a mix of types and sizes of units with 7 x 1 bed and 13 x 2 bed
apartments and 2 x 2 bed town houses.

Contact Officer: Amanda Wilkes

Page 13

Tel: 01403 215521

1.4

The development consists of two distinct elements comprising two part-three and part-four
storey linked blocks with top floor accommodation within mansard roofs. The approximate
dimensions of each element ranges from 9m (height) and 21.55m (length) 12.47m (width)
(smaller block) to 12.04m (height) and 20.7m (length) 21m (width) (larger block at widest
point), rising to 12.4m to the area over the Automatic Opening Vent Stack and the Lift Stack.

1.5

The development occupies a corner plot and has a dual frontage to North Parade and West
Parade, the main frontage faces North Parade and has a central single storey link between
the two blocks that provides an access point to the apartments within the four story block
and a private through way to the rear of the site. The three storey block has a separate
shared central access point to the apartments fronting North Parade, and both of town
houses have their own private entrances. Each of the units has private amenity space
comprising either garden area or balconies with the exception of flats 8, 14, and 20 located
to the rear north west corner of the larger block.

1.6

The design of the proposed development has evolved throughout the application process
resulting in a contemporary building comprising a mix of both horizontal and vertical brick
elevations punctuated by two and three storey projecting bays comprising both brown / red
and contrasting blue / buff brickwork, along with extended exterior window reveals and
floating balconies, all of which provide depth, shade and articulation to the elevations under
the zinc cladded mansard roof.

1.7

It is noted that the occupiers of the site, ‘Smith and Western’, have already secured planning
permission under DC/20/0302 for a new restaurant at 24 -28 East Street Horsham, and it is
their intention to relocate from their current location to Horsham Town Centre. As such the
application site will be shortly vacated.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.8

The application site (approx. 0.19 ha) is located within the Built up Area Boundary of
Horsham and occupies a prominent corner plot on the corner of North Parade (B2237) and
West Parade approximately 1 mile from the town centre of Horsham. The site comprises a
1.5 storey restaurant known as the ‘Smith and Western’, an American Style restaurant
located in the southern portion of the site, along with an associated car parking hard standing
area that occupies the entire northern portion of the site which is accessed via North Parade.
There is a secondary access to the application site (dis-used) off of West Parade.

1.9

The area immediately surrounding the application site to the north, east, south and west is
residential in character, and has similar scale and density with flatted developments located
on the opposing corners of the junctions opposite. The adjacent developments include flats
1-17 Delancey Court (opposite east) and 1-18 Tulip Court (opposite south). Immediately
west of the site is 1-5 The Walnuts, comprising a terrace of three dwellings and a pair of
semi-detached dwellings. Numbers 1-3 (terraced) are set well back into their plots from the
highway and have small rear gardens, the closest of which (1 West Parade) is separated
from the western boundary of the application site by a narrow passage providing access to
their rear gardens. Nos 4-5 (semi- detached pair) follow the established building line of other
two storey dwellings fronting the north side of West Parade, and all have long narrow rear
gardens.

1.10

Dwellings along the south side of West Parade are generally detached and occupy much
larger plots. To the north and north-west of the application site is White Hart Court, a
development comprising semi-detached and terraced dwellings along with associated
garage blocks all accessed off of North Parade, and immediately north of the existing access
to the application site. Beyond this the character of the area to the north and south along
North Parade is residential in nature.

Page 14

1.11

The site is bounded in part by hedgerow and post and rail fencing to the eastern (front)
boundary of the site, a part fenced and part open grass verge to the south of the site, and a
brick wall to the remaining boundaries of the site within the car park. An interrogation of the
Councils mapping system identifies a number of trees subject to Tree Preservation Orders
along the east and south side of the application site, however, this is a historical reference
and the Councils Tree Officer has confirmed that record 76 (from 1962) and 239 (from 1975)
are no longer present on the site. The remaining trees along the boundary of the site
adjacent to Western Parade are of no particular merit and are not subject to any Tree
Preservation Orders.

1.12

To the east of the site approximately 62m away lies the western boundary of the (Horsham
(Richmond Road) Conservation Area. To the south approx. 118m from the southern
boundary of the application site lies White Cottage (25 North Parade) a Grade II listed
building. The application site is well separated from and is not located within a distance that
would be considered to affect the character or setting of this listed building or the character
of the Conservation Area.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 9 – Employment Development
Policy 12 - Vitality and Viability of Existing Retail Centres
Policy 13 -Town Centre Uses
Policy 15 - Strategic Policy: Housing Provision
Policy 16 - Strategic Policy: Meeting Local Housing Needs
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 38 - Strategic Policy: Flooding
Policy 39 - Strategic Policy: Infrastructure Provision
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE
Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD (2017)
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2017)
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Trafalgar Neighbourhood Council forms part of the Horsham Blueprint Business
Neighbourhood Forum which is the designated body of the un-parished area of Horsham

Page 15

Town. The Horsham Blueprint Business Neighbourhood Forum (HBBNF) was designated
five years ago to prepare a Neighbourhood Development Plan for the un-parished part of
Horsham town. North Horsham Neighbourhood Plan area was designated, then the area
voluntarily withdrew the designation. The HBBNF applied for re-designation of the
Neighbourhood Plan Area Forum on the 5 June 2020. The re-designation application was
approved on the 24 August 2020 and a report was issued to Forum members to confirm the
re-designation of the Horsham Blueprint Business Neighbourhood Forum Area.
The Forums Horsham Blueprint Business Neighbourhood Plan finished the draft plan stage
Regulation 16 on 2 November however it has yet to pass through public examination.
Therefore the weight that can be afforded to the Neighbourhood Planning process in this
location at present is very limited.
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
DC/19/1527
Demolition of existing restaurant and erection of
23 apartments with associated parking and
landscaping
DC/04/2567
Two single storey extensions to form additional
dining space and a cold store
DC/08/0103

Withdrawn Application
on 18.10.2019
Application Permitted
on 12.05.2005

Single storey rear/side extension incorporating Application Permitted
disabled wc
on 12.03.2008

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS
HDC Environmental Health: No Objection subject to conditions
HDC Arboricultural: No Objection
HDC Drainage Engineer: No Objection
HDC Housing: Comment
Concerns regarding lack of affordable housing
HDC Town Centre Management: No Objection
HDC Environmental Waste Management Services: No Objection
OUTSIDE AGENCIES
WSCC Highways: No Objection subject to conditions
Southern Water: No Objection
NHS CCG: No Objection
Trafalgar Neighbourhood Council: Object (summary)
Horsham Trafalgar Neighbourhood Council (HTNC) confirm that they do not have a blanket
objection to the sites development but consider the scheme is significantly over-developed

Page 16

and has insufficient parking for the number of flats and would compete for parking with
residents of Tulip Court. TNC have concerns that the development will result in
overshadowing to garden areas of ‘The Walnuts’ West Parade and loss of privacy to bedroom
windows especially to residents in Tulip Court and at least one house on the south side of
West Parade. There is also concern regarding the large balconies facing Tulip Court and
the
development
is
considered
out
of
character
for
the
area
HTNC is concerned both by the monolithic and 'urban' design of the building, and by the lack
of attention paid to local housing. The building would put an enormous square mass on the
corner of North Parade and West Parade, which not only results in loss of light and privacy
but also changes the views and lines of sight at that corner. If the taller part of the building
were located on North Parade, rather than on the corner, impact would be mitigated to a
degree.
The building is slab-sided and square and will be the only such building in the area. Other
flats in the area, such as Tulip Court, have pitched roofs and setbacks that allow them to fit
in well with the older residential architecture. To date, all the blocks of flats in the area have
either been well back from roads and inconspicuous, or else well-designed and in keeping
with the atmosphere of a pleasant residential zone. The new proposal has no pitched roof,
no setback, and no decoration; it is essentially a box, and the first such box in the area. The
proposal appears to have no provision for trees, bushes or any significant amount of verge.
This is both an issue of over-development and a potential safety issue at the intersection.
The documents submitted with the application seem to pointedly ignore the local architecture
and indeed ignore that the area is predominantly small houses rather than flats. At one point,
the large, urban YMCA building from the town centre was submitted as an example of 'local'
architecture, which is misleading. No view showing the relationship between the building and
West Parade was ever provided; the intention seems to be to represent the area as a heavily
built-up urban area, which is not the case.

PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS
The application has been the subject of three separate consultation period as the plans have
evolved. A total of 48 letters of Objection (including the 5 x 2 from same households) and 1
letter of Support have been received across all three consultation periods.
Initial consultation:
27 letters of objection were received during the first consultation, from 22 separate
households. 1 letter raising neither support nor objection was received.
Second consultation:
16 letters of objection were received during the second consultation period from 14
households. Of the 16 letters received, 2 letters were from new addresses.
Third consultation:
6 letters were received during the third consultation period. Of the 6 letters further received
4 letters were from new addresses.
The objections include 2 letters from Wimblehurst Road Residents Association (WRRA).
Objections have been raised on the following grounds;

Page 17























Overlooking and Loss of Privacy
Scale of development on plot
Dominant Design
Street scene
Building line
Lack of set back from road
Overbearing
Overdevelopment
Materials
Height
Overshadowing
Traffic and Highway concerns
Access onto North Parade and impact
Ratio of Parking to Apartments
Impact of parking on Tulip Court Residents – request to reserve on street parking
spaces outside Tulip Court for existing residents.
Construction and impact on neighbours
Redesign to delete townhouses and rotate apartments for central access, and create
additional parking rather than bike storage
Lack of Affordable Housing shown on Plan
Car park lighting
Lack of landscaping
Loss of restaurant

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
Principle

6.1

Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that the starting point
for decision making should be the development plan and that decisions should be made in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The NPPF is a material consideration in the determination of planning applications. The
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) was adopted by the Council in November
2015 and forms the current development plan for the District. Paragraph 33 of the NPPF
requires that all development plans complete their reviews no later than 5 years from their
adoption. By the time of the committee meeting the HDPF will be over 5 years old and by
virtue of paragraph 33 relevant policies for the determination of any application must be
considered as to whether they are ‘out of date’. In this case, the relevant policies as set out
above are considered to remain in accordance with national policy set out in the NPPF. As
the HDPF will be over 5 years old, the Council’s annual target for housing delivery will though
rise from the current 800 dwellings per year to 920 dwellings per year in accordance with the

Page 18

latest standard housing methodology calculator. The Council considers that it can
demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply at 920 dwellings per year. Accordingly, as the
relevant policies are compliant with the NPPF, and a 5 year housing land supply can be
demonstrated, paragraph 11 of the NPPF is not engaged in decision making.
6.2

Policies 1, 2, 3 and 4 of the HDPF set out the Council’s main strategy for the location of
development across the District and, in accordance with the NPPF’s sustainable
development approach; seeks to concentrate development in and around the District’s most
sustainable settlements. The application site is located within the built up area of Horsham
which is classified as a town within the defined settlement hierarchy. Policy 3 describes the
settlement as having a large range of employment services and facilities and leisure
opportunities, including those providing a district function. Strong social networks, with good
rail and bus accessibility. The settlement meets the majority of its own needs and many of
those in smaller settlements. The principle of development in this location as set out in
Policies 2 and 3 of the HDPF is considered to be acceptable subject to a thorough
assessment of the application details, material considerations and compliance with all
relevant policy criteria.

6.3

Policy 15 of the HDPF seeks to allocate a sufficient quantum of new housing across the
Horsham District to meet the identified needs until 2031. As the site is located within the
BUAB of Horsham, it is considered that housing development such as the proposed scheme
would contribute to the windfall units required by Policy 15 (part 5), which contributes to the
‘in principle’ acceptability of this proposal.
Loss of Restaurant

6.4

Policy 12 relates to Vitality and Viability of Existing Retail Centres and recognises the
development hierarchy for the district, and the hierarchy for the districts town and village
centres. The application site being located outside of the town centre site does not fall within
any defined primary or secondary frontages and as such the loss of the A3 restaurant in the
current outlying area is not considered to conflict with Policy 12. The restaurant use has
secured planning permission for its relocation to the ‘quarter’ of Horsham Town where its A3
use is considered most appropriate in meeting needs most appropriate to the character of
the town centre and as such the restaurant business will continue to operate. The restaurant
will seek to retain existing staff from the Horsham branch and it is anticipated about 15 fulltime staff and 35 part-time staff will be employed by the restaurant. Therefore it is considered
that there is no conflict with Policies 9 or 12 of the HDPF.

Design and Appearance
6.5

The area surrounding the application site comprises houses and flatted developments of
various scale, mass and design. There is a mix on two, three and four storey development
with no particular or prevailing architectural style or significant features of special interest.
The site sits on the northwest corner of a staggered crossroads with blocks of flats of differing
scale and design to each of the other three corners. The main elevations front North Parade,
a busy thoroughfare from the town centre to the A24 that is characterised by large flatted
building forms given the road a more urban character than the residential streets that extend
from it. The common themes that unite the area are square and rectangular buildings with
bay elements, dominant use of red brick, and pitched roofs.

6.6

Tulip Court sits to the southwest of the crossroads (corner of North Parade and West
Parade), and forms a three storey block of flats with a relatively square footprint. It has red
brick elevations under a high pitched roof that extends to approximately 13.5m to the overall
ridge height. Tulip Court sits close to the West Parade footway at a setback of approximately
2.4m. The North Parade frontage is setback by approximately 9.4m to 12.3m behind a
landscaped garden area.

Page 19

6.7

Delancey Court sits to the northeast of the crossroads (east of the application site and
immediately opposite on the corner of North Parade and Wimblehurst Road), and forms a
three storey block of flats with a stepped and staggered footprint, It has a mix of red brick
and white rendered elevations under a pitched roof that rises to a height of 11.68m, but
appears higher given it is set on moderately higher ground. Delancey Court is set back
behind soft landscaping variously by approximately 7m- 14.6m along its staggered front
elevation to North Parade.

6.8

To the rear/west of the site are terraces and semi-detached pairs of two storey houses along
West Parade, with further blocks of flats to the north along North Parade.

6.9

Given the mixed character of the area, the addition of a new block of flats on this corner
location can be supported in principle, as it would complement the blocks of flats to the other
three corners of this staggered crossroad junction, and other block of flats in the area that
front North Parade. The site is on a prominent corner therefore any replacement building
will inevitably be seen as more dominant in the townscape that the existing restaurant
building.

6.10

Concerns have been raised in representations received over the design and massing of the
proposal, in particular is square massing on the junction with little setback, and the absence
of a pitched roof to fit in with the character of the area.

6.11

In respect of the square massing concerns, the footprint of the building is comparable to the
square and rectangular footprints of other buildings in the area, and uses bay elements to
each elevation to provide depth and articulation reflective of the bays to Tulip Court and the
staggered frontage to Delancey Court. It is considered that there is sufficient horizontal and
vertical variation in the brickwork and front and rear building lines to add movement and
articulation to the elevations which provide visual interest to the appearance of the
development within the street scene and help to break up the visual mass.

6.12

It is acknowledged that the building sits closer to North Parade than the existing restaurant,
and as such would not have the same opportunities for soft landscaping to reflect the other
North Parade frontages in the area. This is partly derived from the relatively narrow and
angled plot shape. It is noted that the existing restaurant has little soft landscaping other than
a box hedge to North Parade. The proposal would improve on this by introducing a grassed
frontage with new tree planting and a boundary hedge. The articulated building line behind
would break up the elevation’s mass and provide visual punctuation by way of the stepped
approach from 4 storeys to 3 storey’s (including roof accommodation) as viewed from the
public highway

6.13

In terms of its overall height and roofline, the building has been designed to accord with the
heights of Tulip Court and Delancey Court, with its overall 12m height lower than the 13.5m
ridge line to Tulip Court. It is accepted that the mansard roofline does not create a pitched
roof that has the same proportionality and dominance as the rooflines to Tulip Court or
Delancey Court. The use of a mansard nevertheless softens the roofline of the building,
particularly on the lower northern section, and reads as a pitched element. The building’s
design is intended to be purposefully contemporary on this prominent corner, with the
mansard roof line, brick detailing and large windows creating a modern composition rather
than a replication of the more moribund forms of Tulip Court and Delancey Court opposite.

6.14

Overall, the character of the proposed flatted development is considered to sit appropriately
within the context of the wider and immediate surrounds in terms of the proposed scale as
well as the three dimensional mass derived from the height, depth and footprint, particularly
as compared with Tulip Court and Delancey Court opposite. Whilst the flatted development
proposed has a modern appearance, the high quality contrasting red brick elevations, large
window openings and mansard roof are considered to appropriately reflect the key

Page 20

characteristics of the area and provides well-ordered and proportioned elevations across the
two linked elements of the building, providing both visual and aesthetic interest on this
prominent corner plot. The precise detailing and materials specifications (including brick
types) will be secured by condition for subsequent approval should planning permission be
granted.
6.15

In respect of concerns of overdevelopment, the proposed 22 unit development has been
designed to make maximum use of the 0.19 ha application site, which results in a density of
around 115 dwellings per hectare. Whilst Officers consider this to be an example of a
moderately high density development, it is not uncommon for this level of density to be seen
in Horsham, particularly for flatted development. In comparison the density of development
at Tulip Court opposite is 138 dph.

6.16

As such, it is acknowledged that high density development is not considered to be
uncharacteristic of this area, and it is important to acknowledge that the Government now
place a new emphasis on making ‘effective use of land’ and ‘achieving appropriate densities’
(NPPF Paras 122-123), which is a material consideration in this case.

6.17

As this site is located within the BUAB of Horsham, and in close proximity to Horsham Town
Centre, the site is considered to be suitable and sustainable for residential development, with
the contemporary design appropriately reflecting the key characteristics of the area whilst
adding to the variety and mix of buildings, in accords with Policies 32 and 33 of the HDPF.

6.18

Housing Mix and Affordable Housing
Policy 16 [part 3 (a) refers] states that on sites providing 15 or more dwellings, the Council
will require 35% of dwellings to be affordable provision with a tenure split of 70% affordable
rented and 30% intermediate housing. The Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing
SPD (2017) confirms that “The Policy states the Council will assess the viability of
developments when applications depart from adopted policy. Given the level of housing need
in the District, the Council will expect 35% of housing on qualifying sites to be affordable
unless the applicant can provide sound evidence that this cannot be achieved without making
the scheme unviable’.

6.19

HDPF Policy 16 requires that development should provide a mix of housing sizes, types and
tenures to meet the needs of the district’s communities as evidenced in the latest Strategic
Housing Market Assessment November 2019 (Iceni Projects). The reports set out that there
is a higher demand for 2 and 3 bed market housing, with the requirements for Horsham
District made up of 5% of 1 bed; 30% of 2 bed; 40% of 3 bed; and 25% 4 bed plus. The 22
unit development proposes a mix of dwellings including 1 bed flats, 2 bed flats and 2 houses;
Given the nature of the development proposed comprising a flatted development, as
opposed to family houses, the absence of 3 bed units and the higher level of two bed
dwellings proposed is considered acceptable as the higher proportion of 2 bed flats meet an
identified need for smaller units in the district.

6.20

The application as submitted proposed no onsite affordable housing on the basis that the
provision of affordable housing would make the development unviable.

6.21

In accordance with Paragraph 10 of the National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG), the
applicant has submitted a Viability Statement, with open book provision of all financial
information and appropriate evidence sufficient for an independent consultant to assess the
viability position in relation to the development proposed. The Applicants Viability Report
has been independently assessed on the Council’s behalf. Taking all the relevant
parameters into account including gross development value, development timescale, build
costs as well as professional fees, CIL, sales and marketing, site acquisition costs, finance
and profit costs, the Council’s valuer confirms that the scheme is viable and could support

Page 21

additional affordable housing or S106 contributions amounting to £154,485. This would
otherwise be equivalent to 2 affordable housing units provided on site and a residual
commuted contribution sum of £3,156.
6.22

In this instance, given the small number of flats that would be affordable (a number which
would be unattractive to Registered Providers), it is reasonable to accept an off-site
contribution of £154,485, along with the option of a viability review carried out if the scheme
has not reached slab level on 5 plots within 2 years of consent being granted, with provisions
secured within a satisfactory S106 agreement. The applicants have accordingly agreed to
enter into a S106 agreement to secure this off-site financial contribution. This satisfies the
requirements of Policy 16 of the HDPF.
Impact on neighbouring amenity

6.23

As previously stated the proposed development is larger in scale than the existing building
on site, therefore the amenity experienced by existing neighbouring occupier (especially 1
The Walnuts which is closest to the rear west elevation) is likely to change. The primary
impact would be from the larger bulk of the building extending considerably beyond the rear
of The Walnuts which would have a potential impact on outlook and sunlight to these
properties, as well as introducing overlooking potential where currently none exists.

6.24

To minimise these impacts, since the submission of the application the applicants have
pulled the rear/west elevation further back from site boundary and the rear eastern boundary
of 1 The Walnuts, and the previously proposed windows in the west elevation that overlooked
The Walnuts have been repositioned to reduce the potential extent of overlooking. There is
now a separation distance of between 8.7m at the nearest corner point of the proposed
development and 12.6m at the furthest point from the east elevation of 1 The Walnuts. This
relationship is considered acceptable as the window position of flats 8, 14 , 20 and 22 within
the main building have been positioned so as to avoid any overlooking directly over or into
the rear gardens of The Walnuts. At this point the proposed new development is adjacent
to the flank wall of 1 The Walnuts which has one small window at first floor to their hallway.

6.25

Fenestration as previously proposed to bedroom windows within the northern building would
have offered the greatest sense of overlooking, with windows to bedrooms on all levels facing
towards the rear garden of 1 The Walnuts at between 10.5m and 11.6m. The windows have
since been re-positioned to the side elevations as far as possible to direct views away from
the garden of 1 The Walnuts. Views directly into the rear windows of 1 The Walnuts would
therefore be very limited given the positioning of the windows in the northern block and their
angled relationship. The impact on the garden areas would be alleviated somewhat by the
separation distance, and the fact that it is bedrooms that would face this property, rather than
more frequently occupied main living room spaces. In addition, it is noted that the site plan
details trees to be planted alongside the rear garden of 1 The Walnuts which in time will grow
to provide shielding. The final details of this planting are secured in a landscape condition
and would assist in mitigating the accepted impact. Given this arrangement, it is not
considered that the 2 storey (with rooms at roof level above) building at this point would be
unacceptably overbearing on these neighbouring properties.

6.26

To further minimise any overlooking impacts, the applicant has also agreed to a condition
requiring details of the height of the parapet walls to be agreed to ensure they are sufficiently
high to prevent any views from the bedroom windows they serve impact in on the privacy of
The Walnuts. A further condition is recommended to ensure that the stairwell windows are
obscure glazed. Given these amendments and conditions, it is considered that the impact of
the development on the privacy of The Walnuts and the enjoyment of their rear gardens has
been suitably mitigated.

6.27

In terms of daylight and sunlight impacts, it is accepted that the scale of the main building
would likely introduce greater shadowing to the rear north facing garden of 1 The Walnuts

Page 22

during parts of the early and late summer months. This would though dissipate later on in
the morning as the sun paths to the south, with all remaining sunlight during the day
unaffected. Whilst this loss of sunlight would have an impact, its impact would be limited to
part of the day during part of the year. As such it is not considered to be of such an extent
that would warrant the refusal of permission.
6.28

Concerns have been raised by residents regarding the potential for overlooking into the flats
at Tulip Court, which face north towards the site at close proximity to West Parade. Whilst it
is accepted that there would be mutual overlooking, including from the proposed balconies,
it is considered that the front to front relationship of the existing and proposed developments
which are separated by approximately 13.5m -14.5m by the intervening highway of West
Parade is not irregular in an urban setting and in this case is acceptable. Whilst the height
and additional windows facing towards front elevations of Tulip Court would be more intrusive
than the current arrangement, some impact is inevitable when introducing new residential
development into a residential area. In this instance, facing habitable rooms to Tulip Court
comprise lounges that are set back approximately 14.5m from the front elevation of Tulip
Court, and bedrooms which are set back approximately 13.5m. The separation distance of
these rooms across a road are considered to be a reasonable distance. Nevertheless, in
order to preserve the amenities of Tulip Court, and reduce the visual dominance of the
building in views from West Parade, the balconies to flats 13 and 19 facing Tulip Court have
now been removed from the south western corner of the proposed development.

6.29

The proposed development of 22 residential units will generate a level of noise and activity
commensurate with its residential use. This impact would be less intrusive than that afforded
by the existing restaurant which brings with it odour disturbance and late night noise impacts
from customer movements, car park chatter, and extract systems. Whilst the proposed
development would also create its own noise, this would be more domestic in its nature
characteristic of a residential setting such as this. On this basis, and subject to the
recommended conditions, the proposed development is not considered to conflict with policy
HDPF 32 or 33 of the HDPF.

6.30

Concern has been raised by the occupants of a nearby property about the construction
process and arrangements and in particular the impact on the health of their young baby. A
Construction Management Plan (CEMP) condition is recommended to address and control
the construction management process should planning permission be granted. The CEMP
will require satisfactory information to be submitted with regard to the construction
programme, site logistics including access, contractor parking arrangements, and measures
to control dust and mud. The approved details will help to reduce the adverse impact of the
construction process on neighbouring residents, but it is acknowledged that construction
process at this site is still likely to cause some (albeit temporary) adverse impact.

Landscape and Trees
6.31

The sites as existing includes limited soft landscaping beside the restaurant building to the
North Parade and West Parade frontages only. The car park is largely barren of any soft
landscape features.

6.32

The proposal includes the provision of new trees and hedges around the site boundaries and
includes a new hard surfaced communal area to the rear of the site with soft borders. This
will improve the appearance of the site within the streetscene compared to existing. The
majority of dwellings at ground floor have access to private defensible green spaces. No
specific landscaping strategy has been submitted as part of the application and as such a
suitable landscaping condition is required to ensure a satisfactory scheme is bought forward
should planning permission be granted and to ensure compliance with policy 33 of the HDPF.

6.33

The Councils Tree Officer has been consulted it has been advised that the development
proposals will not have any adverse effect upon the local tree stock in the locality. A small

Page 23

number of trees, present in the past, are recorded as having been subject to TPO’s 76 (from
1962) and 239 (from 1975), however it has been confirmed that none of these trees remain.
Present on the site today, though unprotected, are a Silver birch and a Field maple tree, both
on the southern periphery of the site where it abuts West Parade. These trees are to be
retained.
6.34

As with the existing car park, the new car park would border the number of large (though
unprotected) trees within the access to White Hart Court to the north. The car park is at an
existing higher elevation than the adjacent land, and none of the said trees will be affected
by the proposal. The land upon which these trees are sited is adopted by West Sussex
County Council Highways, and the Council’s tree officer has been advised by WSCC tree
management team that two of these large trees, which are in particularly poor condition, are
targeted for removal.
Highways, Access and Parking

6.35

The site is situated in a sustainable location within good walking and cycling distances of
local facilities, so there would be no reliance on the private motor vehicle for future occupiers
to meet their daily needs. TRICS assessments have been carried out to provide a
comparison between the existing trip rate and that of the proposed. This calculates that the
existing use would create 189 two-way trips over a 12 hour period, with the proposal creating
87 two-way trips. It is therefore clear that the residential use of the site will overall create
fewer vehicle trips to and from the site.

6.36

The site will be accessed via the existing access which is to be enlarged to a width of 5.2m
to allow two passing vehicles and avoid standing traffic left in the main carriageway waiting
to access the site/pass opposing vehicles leaving the site. The access will be gated, with the
gates set back by 13m from the edge of the carriage way to allow operation without traffic
waiting to enter and blocking the main carriageway. A visibility plan has been provided to
demonstrate that appropriate visibility splays of 43m in each direction can be achieved, in
line with the requirements of Manual for Streets (MfS) for a 30mph road.

6.37

Swept path analysis drawings have been provided in the Transport Assessment (TA) to
demonstrate that the site access and proposed parking layout are workable. This also
demonstrates that a refuse vehicle can enter the site and turn to avoid reversing out of the
site into the carriageway.

6.38

In respect of parking, since the last public consultation period the proposal has been
amended to provide for 28 bays, (an increase of 5 spaces over that originally proposed) of
which two are disabled bays and two visitor bays. Four of the spaces (off of West Parade)
will be allocated with the remaining spaces within the main parking courtyard being
unallocated. 24 cycle spaces are proposed within the cycle storage facility which has been
relocated closer to the amenity area. The WSCC parking calculator advises that in Trafalgar
Ward a development of this housing mix would require 24 parking bays if unallocated, and
30 bays if they are all to be allocated per flat. With four spaces now allocated fronting West
parade, the calculator requires that a total of 24 parking spaces are provided.

6.39

The 28 parking bays proposed therefore exceeds that required by the Parking Calculator for
this Ward. Given the concerns raised in consultation responses over potential overspill into
heavily parked streets, it is considered appropriate here to require the other 24 spaces to be
unallocated. This will minimise the risk of overspill parking in surrounding streets. A condition
is therefore recommended that secure the parking bays within the main parking courtyard to
be unallocated at all times and to provide 4 allocated tandem parking bays off of West
Parade.

Page 24

6.40

The site is 1km from Horsham Station and the town centre, in a sustainable location where
car ownership is not critical in order to reach shops, services and workplaces. On this basis
the risk of overspill parking is considered limited.

6.41

A Travel Plan for the site has been provided. The Local Highway Authority have reviewed
the content and have not raised any concerns. The Local Highway Authority does not
consider that the proposal would have an unacceptable impact on highway safety or result
in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway network, therefore is not
contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 109), and that there are no
transport grounds to resist the proposal. Appropriate conditions and informatives are
required should planning permission be granted.
Climate Change:

6.42

Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate change
through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, reducing water
consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport modes. These
policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans and decisions
seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change. The proposed development
includes the following measures to build resilience to climate change and reduce carbon
emissions:
 Low-e double glazing to windows will aid in reducing heat transfer, which, will in turn
reduce heating and cooling requirements.
 Energy efficient fittings and appliances such as 100% low energy light bulbs, dual
flush toilets, water meters, draught-proofing, energy and efficient gas condensing
boilers amongst others.
 The scheme aims to achieve between 15% and 25% improvement of the dwelling
Emission Rate (DER) over the Target Emission Rate (TER) based on SAP 2005 or
any subsequent amendment in effect at the time of implementation of the scheme.
 The use of renewable, reusable or recyclable material resources such as glass, bricks
and timber.
 The scheme aims to exceed Building Regulation Part E requirements by either
carrying out pre-completion air testing and/or by using Robust Details in the
construction.

6.43

In addition to these measures conditions are attached to secure the following:
 Water consumption limited to 110litres per person per day
 Requirement to provide full fibre broadband site connectivity
 Refuse and recycling storage
 Cycle parking facilities
 9 Electric vehicle charging points
 Travel plan

6.44

Subject to these conditions the application will suitably reduce the impact of the development
on climate change in accordance with local and national policy.
Drainage

6.45

The Environment Agencies’ flood zone map, indicates that the application site is located
wholly within Flood Zone 1. As such, a full Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) for this site is not
required (as per the PPG). Notwithstanding this, it is still essential for the site to be properly
drained, and to ensure that it will not result in an increase in flood risk elsewhere. A Drainage
Strategy and Management Plan has been submitted which has been reviewed by the
Council’s Drainage Engineer and by WSCC’s Flood Management Team, no objection has
been raised to date. A suitable condition is recommended in respect of foul and surface
water drainage as required by Southern Water.

Page 25

Refuse Storage
6.46

Communal bin stores are provided along the north boundary of the site away from both
existing and proposed residential properties. The provision includes 5 x 1100L recycling bins
and 4 x 1100L refuse bins. The Councils Environmental Waste Management Services
department have been consulted and they have advised that the provision is acceptable.
Conclusions

6.47

The principle of residential development in the Built up Area Boundary of Horsham is in
accordance with the Council’s overarching development strategy, subject to the provision of
affordable housing contributions in lieu of on-site provision. The parking provision on site is
considered to be acceptable by Officers and WSCC Highways.

6.48

It is acknowledged that the four storey scale of the main building is in an area where there is
typically three storey development, however as the report has set out, the height of the
proposed apartment block sits lower than the neighbouring Tulip Court given its flat mansard
roof design, and sits on marginally lower land levels than Delancey Court on the east side of
North Parade. As such the building would not appear out of scale with its surrounds. The
modern design of the proposed flats is considered appropriate in this location, with the
materials and form of the building appropriately reflecting the positive characteristics of the
surrounding mixed development that characterises this part of Horsham. Whilst the site
density is moderately high, it is in keeping with the density of the adjacent flat blocks and
would help meet the demand for smaller residential units in the town.

6.49

Due to the overall scale of the flats, and its position in a built-up area urban setting, it is
acknowledged that there will be some impact on neighbouring amenity from increased
overlooking potential. The amendments and recommended conditions suitably mitigate this
impact as far as possible, with any impact to be considered in the context of the removal of
late night noise disturbance from the existing restaurant. Taking all matters into
consideration, Officers are of the view that overall the development is acceptable, and
recommend that this planning application is approved accordingly.

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017.
It is considered that this development constitutes CIL liable development. At the time
of drafting this report the proposal involves the following:
Use Description

Proposed

Existing

Net Gain

Total Gain
Total Demolition

Please note that exemptions and/or reliefs may be applied for up until the commencement
of a chargeable development.
In the event that planning permission is granted, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued
thereafter. CIL payments are payable on commencement of development.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Page 26

7.1

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions, and the completion of a
s106 legal agreement to secure the affordable housing.

7.2

In the event that the legal agreement is not completed within three months of the decision of
this committee, the Director of Place be authorised to refuse permission on the grounds of
failure to secure the Obligations necessary to make the development acceptable in planning
terms.

1.

List of approved plans

2.

Regulatory (Time) Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be begun before
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3.

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place, including any works of
demolition, until a Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The approved CEMP shall be a
single document, and shall be strictly adhered to throughout the construction period. The
CEMP shall provide for, but not be limited to:
• the parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors,
• the loading and unloading of plant, materials and waste,
• the storage of plant and materials used in construction of the development,
• the erection and maintenance of security hoarding,
• the provision of wheel washing facilities and other works required to mitigate the
impact of construction upon the public highway (including the provision of
temporary Traffic Regulation Orders),
• details of public engagement both prior to and during construction works.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental in the interests of good site management, highway
safety, and to protect the amenities of adjacent businesses and residents during construction
works to accord with Policies 33 & 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

4.

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until the proposed
means of foul and surface water disposal (including details of surface water attenuation) has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly drained
and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

5.

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until precise details of
the existing and proposed finished floor levels and external ground levels of the development
in relation to nearby datum points adjoining the application site have been submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The development shall be completed in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to control the development in detail in the interests
of amenity and visual impact and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).

6.

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until full details of
underground services, including locations, dimensions and depths of all service facilities and

Page 27

required ground excavations, have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority in writing. The submitted details shall show accordance with the landscaping
proposals and Arboricultural Method Statement. The development shall thereafter be carried
out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to the acceptable delivery of this permission, to
ensure the underground services do not conflict with satisfactory landscaping in the interests
of amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
7.

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence, including demolition
pursuant to the permission granted, ground clearance, or bringing equipment, machinery or
materials onto the site, until the following preliminaries have been completed in the sequence
set out below:





All trees on and off the site shown for retention on approved drawing number
[0220/001 Rev B], as well as those off-site whose root protection areas ingress into
the site, shall be fully protected throughout all construction works by tree protective
fencing affixed to the ground in full accordance with section 6 of BS 5837 'Trees in
Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction - Recommendations' (2012).
Once installed, the fencing shall be maintained during the course of the development
works and until all machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site.
Areas so fenced off shall be treated as zones of prohibited access, and shall not be
used for the storage of materials, equipment or machinery in any circumstances. No
mixing of cement, concrete, or use of other materials or substances shall take place
within any tree protective zone, or close enough to such a zone that seepage or
displacement of those materials and substances could cause them to enter a zone.

Any trees or hedges on the site which die or become damaged during the construction
process shall be replaced with trees or hedging plants of a type, size and in positions agreed
by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure the successful and satisfactory protection
of important trees and hedgerows on the site in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).
8.

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until the following
components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination, (including
asbestos contamination), of the site be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local
planning authority:
(a)
A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
- all previous uses
- potential contaminants associated with those uses
- a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
- Potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.
The following aspects (b) – (d) shall be dependent on the outcome of the above
preliminary risk assessment (a) and may not necessarily be required.
(b)
An intrusive site investigation scheme, based on (a) to provide information for a
detailed risk assessment to the degree and nature of the risk posed by any
contamination to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.
(c)
Full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken
based on the results of the intrusive site investigation (b) and an options appraisal.
(d)
A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to
demonstrate that the works set out in (c) are complete and identifying any
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and
arrangements for contingency action where required.

Page 28

The scheme shall be implemented as approved. Any changes to these components require
the consent of the local planning authority.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to
humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following the development
works and to ensure that any pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
9

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development, including works of demolition, shall take
place until the vehicular accesses necessary to serve the development have been
constructed in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
Planning Authority. The accesses permitted shall thereafter be retained as such for their
designated use.
Reason: To ensure adequate parking, turning and access facilities are available to serve
the development in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

10

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab
level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a schedule and
samples of the precise specification of materials and finishes and colours (including brick
detailing and patterns) to be used for external walls, windows, and roofs of the approved
building has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing and
all materials used in the construction of the development hereby permitted shall conform to
those approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control the
development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve a building of
visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

11

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab
level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until full details of the
balconies including their design, materials, finishes and colour, have been submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The balconies shall be constructed in
full accordance with the approved details and be retained as such thereafter.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control the
development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve a building of
visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

12

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab
level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until confirmation has
been submitted, in writing, to the Local Planning Authority that the relevant Building Control
body will be requiring the optional standard for water usage across the development. The
dwellings hereby permitted shall meet the optional requirement of building regulation G2 to
limit the water usage of each dwelling to 110 litres per person per day. The subsequently
approved water limiting measures shall thereafter be retained.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to limit water use in order to improve the sustainability
of the development in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

13

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab
level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until details have been
submitted, in writing, to the Local Planning Authority of the height of the parapet wall to the
rear west facing elevation. The details shall include section drawings to demonstrate that

Page 29

occupiers of the top floor flats would not be able to obtain views into the rear garden of 1 The
Walnuts immediately west of the site.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control the
development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve a building of
visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).
14

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the development
hereby permitted, full details of all hard and soft landscaping shall have been submitted to
and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include plans and
measures addressing the following:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.

Details of all existing trees and planting to be retained;
Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying species,
planting size, densities and plant numbers and tree pit details;
Details of all hard surfacing materials and finishes works including surface materials
to support a 26 tonne refuse vehicle;
Details of all boundary treatments including fencing, walls etc.;
Details of all external lighting.
Measures to improve the ecology of the site

The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the
approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any part of
the development. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved landscaping, no trees or
hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted, felled/removed, topped or lopped
without the previous written consent of the Local Planning Authority until 5 years after
completion of the development. Any proposed planting, which within a period of 5 years,
dies, is removed, or becomes seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next
planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority
gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape and
townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of visual amenity
in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
15

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the development
hereby permitted, the necessary in-building physical infrastructure and external site-wide
infrastructure to enable superfast broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second through
full fibre broadband connection shall be provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future occupiers in
accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

16

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be first occupied unless and
until provision for the storage of refuse and recycling has been made for that dwelling in
accordance with drawing number [4849-010 REV K]. These facilities shall thereafter be
retained for use at all times.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of recycling facilities in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

17

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the development
hereby permitted, details of secure and covered cycle parking facilities for the occupants of,
and visitors to, the development shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied or use hereby
permitted commenced until the approved cycle parking facilities associated with that dwelling

Page 30

or use have been fully implemented and made available for use. The provision for cycle
parking shall thereafter be retained for use at all times.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles in accordance
with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
18

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied
until the car parking spaces necessary to serve it have been constructed and made available
for use in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The car parking spaces shall be unallocated (with the exception of any
disabled bays and the 4 allocated car parking spaces off of West Parade) at all times and
shall thereafter be retained as such for their designated use.
Reason: To provide car-parking space for the use in accordance with Policy 40 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

19

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling shall be first occupied until means for the charging
of electric vehicles by way of fast charging points have been installed in accordance with
details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details
shall seek to meet the minimum standards set out in West Sussex County Council’s
‘Guidance on Parking at New Developments’ (May 2019), and shall have regard to the
Council’s latest Air Quality & Emissions Reduction Guidance document. The details shall
include a plan of all charging points, their specification, means of allocation, and means for
their long term maintenance. The means for charging electric vehicles shall be retained as
such thereafter.
Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development on air quality within the District and to
sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit values or national objectives for
pollutants in accordance with Policies 24 & 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

20

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development shall be first occupied until
pedestrian visibility splays of 2 metres by 2 metres have been provided either side of the
proposed site vehicular access onto West Parade in accordance with plans and details to be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These visibility splays
shall thereafter be kept free of all obstructions over a height of 0.6 metre above adjoining
carriageway level or as otherwise agreed.
Reason: To ensure that adequate and satisfactory pedestrian provision in accordance with
Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015)

21

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation (or use) of any part of the
development hereby permitted, the Applicant shall implement the measures incorporated
within the approved travel plan. The Applicant shall thereafter monitor, report and
subsequently revise the travel plan as specified within the approved document.
Reason: To encourage and promote sustainable transport and in accordance with Policy 40
of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

22

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of the unit, the necessary in-building
physical infrastructure and external site-wide infrastructure to enable superfast broadband
speeds of 30 megabytes per second through full fibre broadband connection shall be
provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future occupiers in
accordance with Policies 10 and 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 31

23

Pre-Occupation Condition: The building hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the
central stairwell window within the west elevation of the three storey block at 2nd and 3rd floor
levels on Plan [4849-012 Rev H and 4849-014 Rev G] have been fitted with obscured glazing.
The window(s) shall be fixed shut/non-openable. Once installed the obscured glazing shall
be retained permanently and the window fixed shut/non-openable thereafter.
Reason: To protect the privacy of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

24

Regulatory Condition: No works for the implementation of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays and
08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or public
Holidays
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

25

Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (and/or any Order revoking and/or
re-enacting that Order no development falling within Classes A, B, C, D and E of Part 1 of
Schedule 2 of the order shall be erected, constructed or placed within the curtilages of the
individual dwelling houses hereby permitted without express planning consent from the Local
Planning Authority first being obtained.
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and due to the constrained nature of the site, in
accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

26

Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 or Orders amending or revoking
and re-enacting the same, no gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure shall be erected
or constructed in front of the forward most part of any proposed building which fronts onto a
highway without express planning consent from the Local Planning Authority first being
obtained.
Reason: In order to safeguard the character and visual amenities of the locality and/or
highway safety and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

27

Regulatory Condition: If, during development, contamination not previously identified is
found to be present at the site then no further development shall be carried out until a
remediation strategy has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority
detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with. The remediation strategy
shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, controlled waters or
the wider environment during and following the development works and to ensure that any
pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

28

Regulatory Condition: No external lighting or floodlighting shall be installed other than with
the permission of the Local Planning Authority by way of formal application.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality and in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Background Papers:
DC/20/0614

Page 32

06) DC/20/0614
ED

Smith and Western, 37 North Parade, Horsham, West
Sussex, RH12 2QR

B
ard
&W

dy

36
1 to 22

FISH

URT
ER S C O

G

NA
REE

CR E

¯

S

NO
R TH

47 45

PAR
E
AD

2
1

56 t

51.2m

8
o8

3
30

8
25

13
20

12

5
o5

1 to

41 t

53

3132
33

CR

16
17

28

For Business
use only - not for distribution to the general public
23
55

29 28
30

to
14

CO
WHITE HART

URT

Delancey Ct

1

Smith
and
Western

1 to

1

17

5
2

12

24

The Walnuts

e
Tre
chdge
e
Be Lo

51.8m

50.0m
WEST PARADE

3
1

51.0m
1 to 10

31

ROAD

Wyndham
Hall

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

o4

Sussex Lodge

12

18

31a

31b

Fig
House

t
31

1 to 15

11

El
Sub
Sta

1 to 18
Tulip
Court

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

19/11/2020

Page 33MSA Number

100023865

0

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee (North)

BY:

Head of Development

DATE:

1 December 2020

DEVELOPMENT:

Change of use of engine house to form 2-bedroom residential property (Full
Application)

SITE:

King’s Mill School Lane Shipley Horsham West Sussex RH13 8PL

WARD:

Southwater South and Shipley

APPLICATION:

DC/20/0321

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr and Mrs C Eustace
RH13 8PL

Address: Kingsland Shipley Horsham

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than 8 persons in different households have
made written representation raising material
planning considerations that are inconsistent with
the recommendation of the Head of Development
and at the request Councillor Lindsay, Councillor
Stannard and Councillor Vickers
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve planning permission subject to the completion of a Section
106 agreement to secure finance for the ongoing maintenance of the
windmill and appropriate conditions.
In the event that the legal agreement is not completed within three months
of the decision of this Committee, the Director of Place be authorised to
refuse permission on the grounds of failure to secure the obligations
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms.

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

Planning permission is sought for the conversion of the engine house of King’s Mill to a 2bedroom residential property. The proposal has been amended during consideration of the
application, with the original submission seeking consent to convert the lower floors of the
windmill, as well as the engine house, to create a larger 3-bedroom dwelling.

1.3

The proposal, as amended, would see the following alterations to the engine house to
facilitate the conversion of the engine house only to provide a dwelling:
1.
2.

Insulate the floor and ceiling
Create new stud walls on the inside of the existing timber frame and full fill with insulation

Contact Officer: Kate Turner

Page 35

Tel:

3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
1.4

Restoration and decoration of existing windows
Installation of new windows and door in keeping with the existing in style, materiality and
colour
Remove existing corrugated metal wall sheets and replace with new
Replace corrugated roof sheets with new insulated roof panels
Externally to lay grasscrete to create a parking area.

The proposal for the conversion of the engine house into a dwelling has been submitted with
the intended aim of securing a long-term solution to finance the ongoing repair and
maintenance works required to ensure the condition of the mill is not at risk. Further details
on this are set out at section 6 of this report. An accompanying application for listed building
consent has also been submitted (reference DC/20/0322).
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.5

King’s Mill is situated in a rural location outside of any defined built up area boundary. It is
situated on the south side of School Lane, a country lane reached off Red Lane and Pound
Lane. The site is located within the Shipley Conservation Area and is a grade II* listed
building.

1.6

The listing description describes the windmill as follows:
Smock mill and engine house. Mill of 1879 for Mr Friend Marten by Grist and Steel,
millwrights of Horsham, engine house of 1880. Corn mill of four storeys has octagonal
"roundhouse" of tarred weather-boarding. Platform above this supported on diagonal struts.
Upper storeys faced with weather-boarding. Pointed hexagonal cap with ball finial. Sweeps
and fantail intact. Attached engine house of one storey corrugated iron on wooden frame
with partially gabled and partially hipped corrugated iron roof and casement windows. Steam
engine no longer present but water pump survives. Good example of a smock mill in working
order and the most recent and biggest windmill in Sussex. The engine house has always
been an integral part of the mill and its history and was built within months of the completion
of the windmill in 1880. There are two inscriptions over a window on the second floor of the
mill: "Engine started January 6th 1880" and "First day new engine October 20th 1880". The
steam engine was important to the operation of the mill as the location was not ideal for
catching the wind. The mill was bought in 1906 by the author Hilaire Belloc, who owned it
until his death in 1953. The mill was worked until 1926 when the engine was disposed of.

1.7

The windmill was granted planning permission and listed building consent in 1999 for
alterations to the engine shed to provide display visitor facilities and to install ancillary
engines. The engine house is currently used for storage.

1.8

The engine house is attached to the windmill and currently consists of corrugated metal sheet
walls, large timber barn doors to the north elevation with metal clad gable end, a corrugated
metal roof finished with black bitumen, timber framed white casement windows, two
dilapidated attached timber structures used for storage and a single timber ledged and
battened door to the west elevation.

1.9

The mill is not currently in a working condition but is confirmed by a millrights report to be in
good condition despite requiring a number of repairs. The access to the site is already
established via a timber gate and set within a grassed curtilage adjacent to residential
properties and open fields.

1.10

The engine house was erected shortly after the mill was completed in order to drive the
millstones and machinery when there was no wind. The original engine was removed but
has been replaced with the existing engine.

Page 36

1.11

The windmill makes a significant contribution to the local area and is seen as a historic
landmark for Shipley, identified as an iconic local landmark in the Shipley Neighbourhood
Plan, Horsham district and West Sussex.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

2.2

The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:

2.3

National Planning Policy Framework

2.4

Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 15 - Strategic Policy: Housing Provision
Policy 16 - Strategic Policy: Meeting Local Housing Needs
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection
Policy 28 - Replacement Dwellings and House Extensions in the Countryside
Policy 30 - Protected Landscapes
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 34 - Cultural and Heritage Assets
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

2.5

The Examination of the Shipley Neighbourhood Plan is now complete and the Inspector’s
Report has been issued. It therefore carries significant weight in decision making. A
referendum will be held in 2021. The relevant policies of the Shipley Neighbourhood Plan
are as follows:
Policy Ship HD1: New Housing Development
Policy Ship HD2: Housing Mix
Policy Ship HD3: High Quality Design
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS

2.6

The most recent and relevant planning history relating to this site is as follows:
DC/20/0322
Works to facilitate the change of use of the
Under consideration
Engine House to form a 2-bedroom residential
property (Listed Building Consent)
SP/19/99
Alteration to engine shed to provide display
Application Permitted
visitor facilities and to install ancillary engines
on 14.06.1999

Page 37

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers
have had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the
public file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS

3.2

HDC Conservation: No Objection subject to conditions.
“King’s Mill is a well-recognised feature of Shipley and in the landscape. It is a good example
of a smock mill and illustrates the technology and construction at the end of the nineteenth
century. The importance of the building is reinforced by its listing at grade II*. The decision
to build the windmill in this location is intriguing as it struggled to catch the wind and an
engine was required to make the mill sustainable. For this reason the engine house forms
an important part of the special interest of the building. Although the windmill does require
repair, and I have been in communication with the owners relatively recently about repair to
the fan tail and gear rack, it retains much if not all of its internal workings such that it is not
inconceivable that it could operate again. This is important as many historic mills have lost
their internal workings and survive as shells. Although we cannot insist on the mill being
brought back into use it is necessary that we consider its optimum viable use, the use that
will result in the least harm and in this case the use for which it was built, and ensure that
this original use is not jeopardised or prevented in the future.
In order that the building can support itself in terms of funding continued maintenance and
repair, I am satisfied the principle of sustainable conversion is acceptable. Following detailed
discussions with the applicants’ agent we have reached a point where I feel the benefits of
conversion to residential use will outweigh the harm to the special interest of the listed
building. The proposed conversion will be limited to the engine house. This will avoid
alteration or disruption to the smock mill and maintain the possibility of it being brought back
into use in the future. An argument could be made that converting the engine house will
reduce the likelihood of the mill working again as this will prevent the reuse of an auxiliary
engine. I am satisfied that there will be other ways to power the workings if wind power is not
sufficient and that there are ways to connect and house an auxiliary power unit such as an
electric motor without harm to the special interest of the listed building. The existing engine
is one fitted in the recent past as a museum piece rather than forming part of the historic
workings. If there is interest in working the mill commercially in the future then we can
consider the requirements for this in light of the loss of storage and working space in the
engine house. The physical impact of the conversion will not result in a significant change to
the exterior of the engine house and it will remain recognisable as forming part of a rural,
industrial building. The internal alterations will result in compartmentalisation of the space
and will dilute opportunity to appreciate how the engine house related functionally to the mill.
In paying special regard to the desirability of preserving the special interest of the listed
building I am mindful that these alterations will be harmful. However, I am satisfied this harm
is less than substantial and is outweighed by the public benefit of ensuring funding is
available for conservation of the asset in the future and to prevent further deterioration in the
short term. My immediate consideration is to ensure the mill is preserved as it currently exists
and does not deteriorate. It is right that the Council supports a scheme that provides a viable
and sustainable income for continued maintenance. To this end it is appropriate that the
income from the residential use is tied to a maintenance and repair schedule in perpetuity.”
OUTSIDE AGENCIES

3.3

Historic England: Historic England formally commented on the proposals at each of the
three consultations. These three responses are summarised below:

Page 38

1 April 2020 – Concerns raised.
Summary – “Kingsmill at Shipley is a highly significant Windmill listed at grade two star as a
rare survival of smock mill in working order. Historic England considers the proposals to
convert the engine house and lower floors to residential use would cause harm to the
significance of the windmill as a result of changes to the functional and utilitarian character
of these spaces and to the understanding of how the mill operated. We also have concerns
regarding the direct impact of the proposals and whether these would prohibit the mill ever
working properly once converted as well as preventing any potential future public access.
We appreciate that the proposed scheme seeks to secure a sustainable future for the building
but do not think that the current submissions have demonstrated that all harm has been
avoided or minimised; the harm that remains has been clearly and convincingly justified; and
the proposals are the optimum viable use, as required by paragraphs 190, 194 and 196 of
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).”
5 June 2020 – Concerns raised.
“We appreciate that there is a real need to generate funds to secure the repair and long term
maintenance of the windmill and that the owner is willing to accept some limited public
access. However, we remain concerned that the mill would not be able to work properly once
the engine house and lower floors were converted to residential use. We are also concerned
that conversion would make it more difficult to understand how these spaces contributed to
the operation of the windmill and the milling process. We note that the Sussex Industrial
Archaeological Society and former members of the trust also hold this view. They explain
that the lower floors, engine house and engine are important elements of the working mill.
Conversion of the lower spaces would prevent the operation of the sack hoist enabling flour
to be lowered to the ground floor, and likewise, grain to be raised up through these floors to
the bin floor. In addition Sussex Industrial Archaeology Society highlight the importance of
the engine house and engine within it for understanding how millers overcame site difficulties
and the lack of wind, by installing alternative power. Furthermore, the conversion would
impact on the appreciation of the functional and utilitarian character of the mill.
In terms of the assessment of options that has been provided, we would expect the Local
Planning Authority to rigorously scrutinise this information to ensure that the three
bedroomed dwelling is in fact the optimum viable use (i.e. the viable use that causes least
harm to the building’s significance) as required by para 194 NPPF. We note that the
assessment lacks any financial analysis of the alternatives, including why a smaller change
would not generate sufficient funds, or any market testing of the demand for other uses.
Before any conversion of the mill is accepted, use as i) a visitor attraction, and ii) a separate
residential building should be given fuller and more serious consideration. From the
representations received we can see that there is a real appetite and enthusiasm for the reestablishment of the trust and the running of the mill as a visitor attraction, with the offer of
support from local residents to achieve this.”
“Historic England still has serious concerns with regards to these applications on heritage
grounds.
We consider that the issues and advice in our letter need to be addressed in order for the
application to meet the requirements of paragraphs 190, 193, 194 and 196 of the NPPF.”
3 September 2020 – Comments.
“Historic England previously commented on earlier versions of this scheme in our letters
dated 1st April and 5th June 2020.
In these letters, we highlighted the significance of Kings Mill, as a rare survival of an intact
smock mill in working order and listed at grade II*. We also raised concerns regarding the
proposal to convert both the engine house and lower floors of the windmill to residential use.
This was because we considered it would cause harm to the significance of the windmill

Page 39

through the loss of the functional and utilitarian character of the converted spaces, which
would make it more difficult for a visitor to appreciate how it functioned as a working mill. In
addition, we had concerns regarding the direct impact of the proposal and whether this would
prohibit the mill ever working properly once converted, as well as preventing any potential
future public access.
The proposal has now been amended to involve solely the conversion of the engine house,
as well as retaining the machinery and engine, so that they can still be read as part of the
working of the mill.
Historic England considers that this change is an improvement over the previous scheme as
it will maintain the intactness of the smock mill and therefore the possibility of it being brought
back into working use in the future. The retention of the machinery within the engine house
also maintains the understanding of how the mill was operated on windless days and in doing
so preserves the meaning of the building in which it is housed.
However, the proposal will still cause some harm to significance through the subdivision and
domestication of the interior of the engine house and the loss of its functional and utilitarian
character. The conversion to domestic use will also prevent any potential future operation of
the windmill on days without wind.
Any proposal requiring planning permission or listed building consent is judged in the context
of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), which gives great weight to the
conservation of heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance. Harm to
heritage significance should be avoided or minimised (Para 190). Where harm is unavoidable
it must be clearly and convincingly justified (Para 194). Such harm can then be weighed
against any public benefits, including securing the optimum viable use of a place (Para 196).
Historic England in its previous advice considered that the options of either a) re-establishing
the mill as a visitor attraction operated under a trust; or b) the provision of a separate building,
detached from the windmill and in a location that does not significantly compromise its setting
should both be given serious consideration, before the conversion of the mill is accepted.
We felt that these options would be less harmful to significance of the windmill and would
facilitate future public access.
We are aware that these options have been discussed with the applicants and their agent
and for different reasons are not considered by them to be achievable or deliverable. We
also appreciate that funds for the repair and maintenance of the windmill need to be found if
it is not to deteriorate further and that this scheme has the potential to deliver an income to
achieve this.
We therefore recommend that the Local Planning Authority rigorously scrutinise the proposal
and supporting information to determine whether the requirements of the NPPF are met. In
particular, firstly is harm as far as possible unavoidable and clearly and convincingly justified
in relation to a dwelling house scheme, and secondly is a dwelling house scheme actually
the optimum viable use for this building (i.e. the viable use that causes least harm to the
building’s significance)? Furthermore, is the income generated from the proposal (which is
identified as a heritage benefit and which may be weighed against the harm) sufficient to
secure the future of the windmill as is claimed?
If the applications are approved, they should be controlled by a condition or legal agreement
that requires the monies generated to be tied to the repair and maintenance of the windmill
in perpetuity. We also recommend that some level of public access to the building, such as
on heritage open days, is secured as part of these proposals.”

Page 40

3.4

WSCC Highways: No objection subject to conditions.
“An established access point will serve the proposed dwelling and currently appears to serve
three dwellings. No changes to the access are proposed.
The Local Highways Authority (LHA) advises the applicant that the access track benefits
from the presence of a Public Right of Way (PRoW). The works proposed do not affect the
PRoW; however, the applicant may wish to consult WSCC Public Rights of Way Team, to
see if any underlying issue that may arise.
An inspection of data supplied to WSCC by Sussex Police over a period of the past five years
reveals that there have been no recorded injury collisions within the vicinity of the site.
Therefore there is no evidence to suggest that the existing assess is currently operating
unsafely.
The applicant has provided three parking spaces for the proposed development. WSCC
parking demand calculator anticipates that two parking spaces would be adequate for a
dwelling for this size and location. As a result, the Local Highways Authority (LHA) would not
deem the proposed parking provision unacceptable and raise no concerns.
In the interests of sustainability and as result of the Government’s ‘Road to Zero’ strategy for
at least 50% of new car sales to be ultra-low emission by 2030, electric vehicle (EV) charging
points should be provided for all new homes. Active EV charging points should be provided
for the development in accordance with current EV sales rates within West Sussex (Appendix
B of WSCC Guidance on Parking at New Developments) and Horsham Local Plan policy.
Ducting should be provided to all remaining parking spaces to provide ‘passive’ provision for
these to be upgraded in future.
The applicant has proposed a nil cycle parking provision, the LHA advises the Local Planning
Authority (LPA) that if they deem cycle parking justifiable then the applicant should show this
in the form of lockable covered storage.”

3.5

Southern Water: No Objection.
“Southern Water requires a formal application for any new connection to the public foul sewer
to be made by the applicant or developer.
The Council’s Building Control officers or technical staff should be asked to comment on the
adequacy of soakaways to dispose of surface water from the proposed development.
It is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the development site.
Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction works, an investigation of the
sewer will be required to ascertain its ownership before any further works commence on
site.”
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.6

In total 66 representations (many from the same households) have been received across the
three consultations. The first two consultations considered a three bedroomed scheme which
included the conversion of the lower floors of the windmill as well as the engine house. 23
responses were received to these consultations held in Feb/March and April/May. These
representations can be summarised as follows:
 This is the last complete smock mill capable of working throughout the county and must
be maintained for the benefit of future generations
 An important part of Sussex heritage that should be retained in its original condition
 Loss of important protected landmark
 Irreversible harm to the listed building

Page 41

 Will remove the windmill from internal public access forever and the upper floors from
maintenance
 Public access should be maintained
 Will prevent the Mill from every being restored to working order
 Conversion cannot be achieved without an impact on the historic fabric of the mill
 The best future for the windmill would be to reinstate the Trust, which could then raise the
necessary funds to restore the windmill to working order
 Shipley Windmill is very different to the other examples given and not comparable
 The windmill is in a state of neglect/ disrepair and lacks maintenance
 The scheme is not necessary or justified in order to preserve the mill for future generations
as there is a great deal of interest and enthusiasm locally and within various conservation
organisations which could be drawn upon to facilitate its preservation and maintenance
 Request for parish of Shipley to set up a Shipley Windmill charitable trust and take on the
running of the windmill
 Background to reasons charitable trust terminated their lease and their reluctance/
disappointment with this
 Internal works would destroy the fabric of the listed building
 Concern over financial viability of the proposal
 impact on nearby gardens from overlooking
 Unclear how the ground and first floor ceilings can be left with exposed joists whilst also
maintaining insulation standards and the existing ladders retained
 No public benefit of this proposal, only a loss of amenity
 Not the optimum viable use
 Would constitute substantial harm and none of the four tests are satisfied
 Loss of engine
 Whilst the original engine has gone, there remains the original physical connections to the
mill and the physical landscape of the original which would be compromised if converted
 Interest in historic mills and stoneground flour has grown
 Goes against the principle of the lottery money donated to repair the sails provided the
building was opened up
 As an absolute minimum planning permission should come with conditions surrounding
maintenance and regular public openings
 Will lead to development of upper floors
 It is not true that mills with sails/sweeps cannot produce electricity - see Ashcombe in
Lewes
 Concerned that the application does not seem to contain any reference to the legally
binding agreement that was made in the past to continue to maintain the mill
 Construction noise and impact on roads during development
 Change in the landscape
3.7

The third consultation was held in August/September and sought comments on the amended
2-bedroom engine house conversion scheme that is the subject of this report. 9 additional
comments were received from members of the public, including one in support, which can
be summarised as follows:











Other funding options should be explored including the creation of a new charitable trust
Demonstrable harm has not been justified
Loss of historic character of the Engine House
Engine house is integral part of the mill and its history
Need more financial clarity
Should be restored not converted
Public funds spent previously are being disregarded
Engine shed is not suitable for conversion
Will remove the windmill from public access forever
Should be retained open to the public/tourists

Page 42

 Should be used for locally milled flour
 Building should be controlled by the Council or compulsory purchased
 Takes away the possibility of the mill being used via the engine in the future/being restored
to working order
 Gridforce mesh matting is not in keeping
 Existing door should be retained
 Water pump and barn door gable hinges should be retained
 Alternative options such as shepherds huts holiday accommodation suggested
3.8

It should be noted that 28 of the responses received came from outside of the District
including residents in Brighton, Shepperton, Leicester, Norwich and Australia.

3.9

The Sussex Industrial Archaeology and the Sussex Mills Group
The Sussex Industrial Archaeology Society and Sussex Mills Group have both objected to
the proposals at each consultation stage. These are detailed responses not reproduced in
this committee report but available on the public portal. The objections to the proposal
subject to this report are reproduced below.

3.10

The Sussex Industrial Archaeology Society – Objection.
“I refer to previous objections to this application that this Society has made and note that no
alterations are now to be made to the Mill itself. However as previously stated the engine
house is an historic adjunct to the mill, being erected shortly after the mill’s completion and
demonstrating the ingenuity of our forefathers in solving practical problems; in this case the
lack of wind availability. In previous applications for similar conversion of the engine house,
which were not approved, it was noted by English Heritage that a sustainable solution to
secure the mill’s future should be found. Does this revised application ensure this? –
unfortunately no.
I note that the previous application’s financial figures for funding the mill repairs are used in
this application, which is for a lesser amount of conversion work. Assumptions are made that
the conversion can be funded by a mortgage, as yet not agreed, and that the full proposed
contribution from this transaction will be sufficient to cover the immediate and urgent repairs
needed for this important listed building.
It is not made clear whether this money would be utilised immediately or following the
completion and letting of the conversion during which time the mill will deteriorate further.
Should the desired rental income be achieved, this as stated may cover the cyclical costs
but there is no proposal as to how future major repairs, which will inevitably occur, will be
funded.”
“The concern of the Sussex Industrial Archaeology Society is that the mill will further decay
to such an extent that it can no longer ever be workable, a sad and unnecessary loss to one
of the historic buildings of the County which ten years ago was working and had a future with
an a dedicated group of local supporters.
As such Sussex Industrial Archaeology Society maintains its strong objection to these
applications.”

3.11

The Sussex Mills Group – Objection.
“The Sussex Mills Group still opposes this revised proposal on the following grounds. It will
lead to an unnecessary irreversible change to one of the most important historic windmills in
England.
1. The engine shed is a critical and unique feature of the mill. It is a relatively lightweight
timber construction covered with corrugated iron sheeting. Hence it will not be possible to

Page 43

convert it into suitable living accommodation, complying with all necessary building
regulations, in the way proposed without fundamental changes to its historic fabric.
Furthermore being within the curtilage of a listed building it will also have a negative impact
on the windmill. A solution that would be considerably less detrimental to the mill would be
to erect a completely new building for living accommodation away from the mill.
2. The revised 'design and access statement' still incorrectly states that the auxiliary engine
was acquired by the volunteers to run the sweeps for visitors when there was no wind. This
is not true. The engine is a second hand replacement of the original auxiliary engine which
was used to drive the mill's machinery when there was no wind during most of the mill's
commercial working life. When commercial milling ceased the engine was removed, probably
for scrap, as was often the case with mills across Britain. In the early 2000s the trust
managed to acquire the present engine to replace the original and it was set up in the original
position with the original machinery. Although it is not the original engine it is still a vital part
of the mill's heritage. In the same spirit the sweeps, fantail, reefing stage and much of the
external cladding are not original, having been replaced due to decay, but are still vital
features of the mill and could not be removed.
3. The revised 'design and access statement' states that the need for change is to fund
repairs and maintenance and no alternative is viable. This is not true. It implies that the use
of the premises as a museum and visitor centre by the trustees between 1987 and 2009
failed due to a lack of funding and volunteer labour. This is not true. Care of the mill in this
way would still be continuing in this way successfully today had the owner consented to
renew the lease which was due to expire in 2010. The imminent expiry of the lease prohibited
the trustees from obtaining the necessary funding from grants and so the volunteers and
trustees surrendered the lease in 2009 because of this. There is still a great deal of good will
locally and within the heritage community and creation of a new trust would be a viable option
to maintain the mill if the owners were in agreement. There are numerous successful
examples of mills being run in this way across Britain. Furthermore it is unlikely that the rental
income from living accommodation of the size and type proposed would cover the cost of
repairs and maintenance stated by the proposal. It is also questionable if the huge
expenditure needed for the building works to convert the engine shed is available, why it is
not being spent directly on the repairs currently needed for the mill.”
PARISH COUNCIL CONSULTATION
3.12

Shipley Parish Council: Objection (4 September).
1. Financial - Members were not convinced that the financial model proposed by the
applicant was sustainable creating a risk that the income from the proposed development
may not fund maintenance of the windmill in future years.
2. Funding options - Members pointed out (from personal experience) that other funding
options to maintain the windmill had been proposed in the past but had been rejected by
the applicant. These options were not considered in the financial analysis provided by
the applicant. These options would have afforded the opportunity for grant income to
maintain the windmill.
3. Design - Members noted the professional objections from English Heritage and Historic
England and supported their findings and recommendations.
4. History and amenity - Members noted the large number of objections (the most received
in recent times) from both local residents and from further afield. Members agreed with
the majority of comments that the windmill is a local community asset and the that the
removal of the engine room would be hugely detrimental and at odds with the grade 2*
listing.
5. Conclusion and decision - on balance, all the consultee reports before Members seem to
agree that the amended application will not change the preservation of the windmill any
more that compared to the current situation.

Page 44

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
Principle of Development

6.1

Policy 1 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) states that the Council will work
proactively with applicants to achieve development that secures socio-economic and
environmental benefits. Reflecting the presumption in favour of sustainable development
contained within the NPPF, the Council will grant permission for development that accords
with the relevant policies of the development plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

6.2

Policy 2 of the HDPF seeks to maintain the District’s unique rural character, whilst ensuring
that the needs of the community are met through sustainable development that has suitable
access to services and local employment. The spatial strategy as set out in the HDPF is to
focus development in and around the key settlement of Horsham and allow for growth in the
rest of the district in accordance with the identified settlement hierarchy. Policy 3 of the HDPF
states that development will be permitted within towns and villages which have a defined
built-up area. The site the subject of this application is located outside of any defined builtup area boundary.

6.3

As the application site lies outside of any settlement boundary, it is considered for the
purposes of planning policy to be within a countryside location. The development would
therefore be contrary to the approach set out in policies 2 and 3 of the HDPF. In addition,
there is no evidence to suggest that the proposed dwelling would be essential to its
countryside location, and the proposal would also therefore conflict with Policy 26 of the
HDPF.

6.4

While Shipley is currently an unclassified settlement it has been put forward as a ‘secondary
settlement’ within the Local Plan Review – Issues and Options document (April 2018). The
aim of ‘secondary settlements’ is to identify hamlets which may be able to support a degree
of infill development to support rural communities. This could be through the provision of rural
worker accommodation or the conversion of existing buildings to residential such as the
proposal the subject of this application.

6.5

The suggested policy wording within the issue and options document suggests that planning
permission will be granted for residential infilling within defined secondary settlements
provided that the site is a small gap or plot within an otherwise built-up settlement form, is
limited in scale to reflect the existing scale and character of the settlement function and form,
and does not result in significant increase is activity including traffic movement on narrow
and rural roads.

6.6

Policy ShipHD1 of the Shipley Neighbourhood Plan is in broad conformity with the emerging
Local Plan and states that applications for housing developments within Shipley will be
considered favourably where they meet the following criteria:

Page 45

 The proposed development is for an infill gap, or on previously developed land, within the
continuity of existing buildings
 The proposed development will not result in the outward extension of the villages or
hamlets onto greenfield land
 The proposed development delivers new affordable housing
 The proposed development reflects the scale and density of existing development in the
village or hamlet where it is located
 The proposed development responds positively to Shipley Parish Design Guidance in
Appendix 2 of the Neighbourhood Plan
6.7

It is therefore considered that the principle of residential development on this site would not
be supported by the HDPF but could be in the emerging Horsham District Local Plan 20192036 due for pre-submission consultation imminently and by the Shipley Neighbourhood
Plan.

6.8

The NPPF states at paragraph 202 that ‘Local planning authorities should assess whether
the benefits of a proposal for enabling development, which would otherwise conflict with
planning policies but which would secure the future conservation of a heritage asset,
outweigh the disbenefits of departing from those policies.’ While there is no definition of
enabling development, Historic England advise that enabling development is
development that would be unacceptable in planning terms but for the fact that it would bring
public benefits sufficient to justify it being carried out, and which could not otherwise be
achieved. The key public benefit to significant places is usually the securing of their longterm future. It must therefore be considered whether the proposed residential development
as proposed can be supported as a form of enabling development which would generate a
level of public benefit which would be significant enough to justify it being carried out.

6.9

The potential public benefit that the proposed development would enable at King’s Mill is a
material consideration in the determination of this application and discussed below.
Harm vs Public Benefit

6.10

Paragraph 192 of the NPPF confirms that, in determining applications, Local Planning
Authorities should take account of the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the
significance of heritage assets, the positive contribution that heritage assets can make to
sustainable communities and economic vitality and the desirability of new development in
making a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness.

6.11

Paragraph 196 of the NPPF states that where a development proposal will lead to less than
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing
its optimum viable use.

6.12

Paragraph 202 of the NPPF states that:
“Local planning authorities should assess whether the benefits of a proposal for enabling
development, which would otherwise conflict with planning policies but which would secure
the future conservation of a heritage asset, outweigh the disbenefits of departing from those
policies.”

6.13

The Council’s Conservation Officer, the Case Officer for the planning/listed building consent
applications and Historic England have carried out detailed discussions with the applicants
and their agent and were in agreement that the previous scheme to convert the lower floors
of the windmill in addition to the engine house would result in substantial harm to the listed
building and the public benefits of repairs and maintenance to the windmill were not
considered to outweigh the resultant harm. It is considered that the scheme as amended and
before Members has now reached the point where the balance has shifted and the benefits

Page 46

of conversion of the engine house to residential use outweighs the harm to the special
interest of the listed building. The proposed conversion will be limited to the engine house
only as opposed to the lower levels of the windmill too as originally proposed. This will avoid
alteration or disruption to the smock mill and maintain the possibility of it being brought back
into use in the future. An argument could be made that converting the engine house will
reduce the likelihood of the mill working again as this will prevent the reuse of an auxiliary
engine. However, it is considered that there will be other ways to power the workings if wind
power is not sufficient and there are ways to connect and house an auxiliary power unit such
as an electric motor without harm to the special interest of the listed building. The existing
engine is one fitted in the recent past as a museum piece rather than forming part of the
historic workings. If there is interest in working the mill commercially in the future then this
can be considered in light of the loss of storage and working space in the engine house.
6.14

The physical impact of the conversion will not result in a significant change to the exterior of
the engine house and it will remain recognisable as forming part of a rural, industrial building.
It is acknowledged that the internal alterations will result in compartmentalisation of the space
and will dilute opportunity to appreciate how the engine house related functionally to the mill.
In paying special regard to the desirability of preserving the special interest of the listed
building, these alterations are likely to be harmful. However, this harm is considered to be
less than substantial and is outweighed by the public benefit of ensuring funding is available
for conservation of the asset in the future and to prevent further deterioration in the short
term. In ensuring that the mill is preserved as it currently exists and does not deteriorate, it
is considered that support should be given to a scheme that provides a viable and sustainable
income for continued maintenance. It should be noted that this application does not
permanently restrict public access to the windmill for the future. The windmill will have an
entirely separate entrance and if the owners felt inclined to open the windmill to the public
again in the future this would still be workable and achievable.

6.15

Historic England are clear in their most recent response that the changes to the scheme are
an improvement from the proposal as originally submitted and will maintain the intactness of
the smock mill and therefore the possibility of it being brought back into use in the future.
The retention of the machinery within the engine house as part of the proposal also maintains
the understanding of how the mill was operated on windless days and in doing so preserves
the meaning of the building in which it is housed. They do however acknowledge that the
proposal will still cause some harm through the subdivision and domestication of the interior
of the engine house and that the conversion will prevent any potential future operation of the
windmill on days without wind. This however does not necessarily have to be the case as
the Council’s Conservation Officer has concluded that there is still the potential for alternative
means of powering the windmill.

6.16

Historic England have asked that the Local Planning Authority rigorously scrutinise the
proposal and supporting information to determine whether the requirements of the NPPF are
met. In particular, to ensure any harm is unavoidable and convincingly justified, whether a
dwellinghouse scheme is a viable use that causes least harm to the buildings significance
(optimum viable use) and whether the income generated from the proposal (which is
identified as a heritage benefit and which may be weighed against the harm) is sufficient to
secure the future of the windmill as is claimed.
Financial Review of Enabling Development

6.17

The Historic England’s Good Practice Advice Note on “Enabling Development and Heritage
Assets” (published in 2000) is generally accepted as authoritative guidance on enabling
development. The note recognises that ‘enabling development is a planning mechanism
which permits departure from planning policies in appropriate cases, and so enables
conservation of a relevant heritage asset in cases where otherwise the future of the asset
would not be secured’.

Page 47

6.18

The windmill is one of only 105 grade II* and grade I listed buildings in the district. This
accounts for under 6% of the total number of listed buildings in the district and illustrates the
more than special and exceptional interest of such assets. It has long been acknowledged
that heritage assets, and historic buildings in particular, are at risk if they are underused or
redundant. This is often the case with buildings built to serve a particular industry or use that
is no longer required or desirable, with historic farm buildings being a good example. King’s
Windmill is considered to be at risk for this reason.

6.19

The best outcome in heritage terms would be its return to use as a mill, and this is the starting
point of Historic England’s general advice for any redundant historic building. However, it is
also understood that this outcome has little likelihood of success in this case. The NPPF
provides a process in considering other uses that may involve alteration that cause harm. In
these cases the Council has a duty to have special regard to the desirability of preserving
the building and any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses,
and to weigh this desire with the public benefits, including securing the optimum viable use
of the building that may accrue. The conservation of King’s Mill is clearly of public benefit but
if the likelihood of its renewed use as a mill is not viable then it is appropriate that a new use
that will ensure its preservation without unacceptable levels of harm to its special interest is
considered.

6.20

The application has been submitted as a means of generating funds to facilitate the ongoing
maintenance and repair of the windmill. The current owners require a sound solution for its
continuation and have explored alternative uses for the site including office, holiday
accommodation and a detached residential building. These alternative proposals have
however been found to be unachievable and undeliverable. The applicants believe that this
proposal, for conversion of the engine house to residential, is the optimum viable use and
one that will generate an income stream to cover the cyclical maintenance costs and capital
repairs that will arise as the building ages, and one that causes the least harm to this
significant heritage asset as it leaves the mill in an operable state with the proposed
alterations fully reversible should technological advancements provide the redundant mill
with a viable use in the future.

6.21

For this proposal to be truly ‘enabling’ the financial appraisal provided by the applicants must
be sound. A review of the applicant’s financial appraisal has been carried out by an
independent consultant (Bespoke Property Consultants) on behalf of the Council. The
consultant has confirmed that the applicant’s intention is to let the property on the open
market with a Buy to Let mortgage providing funds for the repair works to the windmill and
conversion of the engine house. The subsequent rental income from the engine house
conversion will be used to fund the mortgage payments along with the ongoing repairs and
maintenance of the windmill and engine house, with a modest income provided for the
owners. A summary of the review is set out below. This is considered important to set out in
the report as the finances have been questioned in representations and an independent
review should serve to satisfy these queries.
Conversion costs for the Engine House
Based on current data (October 2020) the consultants have confirmed that the suggested
figure of £105,000 for the conversion with costs appears reasonable.
Costs of Repairs to the Windmill
The Owlsworth IJP quotation for the repairs to the windmill,
applicants, also appear reasonable and realistic with some
considered to appear high, offsetting the extra contingency.
checked the figures are still up-date as the quote was provided
that the index ratings are still relevant.

Page 48

commissioned by the
figures in the budget
The consultants have
in 2018 and confirmed

Ongoing Maintenance of the Windmill
The budget for the ongoing maintenance of the Windmill are perhaps slightly low, however
following the major repair works and compete external decoration, the demand for work
in the early years would be limited and enable a sinking fund to be built up which could
amount to £9,882 after three years, and £16,470 after five years.
Valuation of the Completed Unit
Bespoke Property Consultants consider the £400,000 figure suggested to be at the top of
the likely values achievable and suggest £360,000 as a more realistic figure. The Warren
Financial Illustration sets a limit of loan to value of a maximum of 65%. At £360,000
valuation the maximum load would still be £234,000 which is slightly higher than the loan
suggested in the applicant’s mortgage illustration.
Rental Value of the Completed Unit
The applicant’s assumption of £1.300 pcm is considered reasonable.
Analysis of the Financial Model
The cost of repairs and redecoration to the Windmill and conversion of the engine house
are therefore as follows:
Repairs to Windmill £83,833.25
Decoration (assume incl. VAT) £20,000.00
Convert Engine Shed £105,000.00
Reduced rate VAT 5% 5,250.00
Total costs £214,083.25
Therefore, a total mortgage availability of £230,000.00 would cover this with some further
contingency or allowance for furnishings.
Rental Income pcm £1,300.00
Less mortgage payments £916.46
Net available for maintenance £383.54 multiplied by 12 months = £4,602.48
6.22

Bespoke Property Consultants concluded that despite some minor discrepancies in the
figures provided by the applicant, the proposal does appear at this current time to be viable
and sustainable with various contingencies built into the analysis.

6.23

In paying special regard to the desirability of preserving the special interest of the listed
building, whilst acknowledged that the proposed alterations will be harmful, the Council’s
Conservation Officer is satisfied this harm is less than substantial and is outweighed by the
public benefit of ensuring funding is available for conservation of the windmill in the future
and to prevent further deterioration in the short term. The income generated from the
proposal, which is identified as a heritage benefit and which may be weighed against the
harm, is sufficient to secure the future of the windmill as is claimed. This income should be
tied to a maintenance and repair schedule in perpetuity by means of a Section 106
agreement that ties 30% of the revenue from the rental of the engine house conversion to be
used for that purpose plus the one-off major repair works cost.
Character, Design and Appearance

6.24

Policies 25 and 26 of the HDPF seek to protect the natural environment and landscape
character of the District, including the landform, development pattern, together with protected
landscapes and habitats: development will be required to protect, conserve and enhance
landscape and townscape character, taking account of areas or features identified as being
of landscape importance, individual settlement characteristics and settlement separation

6.25

Policies 32 and 33 of the HDPF require development to be of a high standard of design and
layout. Development proposals must be locally distinctive in character and respect the
character of their surroundings. Where relevant, the scale, massing and appearance of

Page 49

development will be required to relate sympathetically with its built-surroundings, landscape,
open spaces and to consider any impact on the skyline and important views.
6.26

Policy 34 of the HDPF seeks to sustain and enhance the historic environment through the
positive management of development affecting heritage assets. Development inter alia will
be required to preserve and enhance the special character of heritage assets through
appropriate siting, scale, form, design, materials and techniques. Proposals must be
designed to preserve a clear appreciation and legibility of distinctive vernaculars, features
and fabrics, whilst appropriate assessment should be undertaken to inform an understanding
of the significance of the heritage asset.

6.27

The proposed dwelling has been sympathetically designed to ensure the character of the
engine house is retained, with only minimal alterations proposed to engine house and the
site itself proposed. These are set out below:
1. Insulate the floor and ceiling
2. Create new reversible stud partition walls on the inside of the existing timber frame and
full fill with insulation. This will create an open plan kitchen/ dining/ living room (with the
modern engine retained and encased in the kitchen island), two bedrooms and a
bathroom.
3. Restoration and decoration of existing windows serving the hallway, master bedroom and
kitchen.
4. Installation of new windows on eastern elevation to serve the bathroom and second
bedroom and door in keeping with the existing in style, materiality and colour. Close up
doorway between mill and engine house.
5. Remove existing corrugated metal wall sheets and replace with new in same materials
6. Replace corrugated roof sheets with new metal insulated roof panels
7. Externally to lay grasscrete to create a parking area.
8. Remove lean-to storage structures

6.28

The Council’s Conservation Officer has reviewed the submitted detail and has been fully
involved in the stages of this application as it has progressed to this recommendation. The
Conservation Officer is satisfied that the applicant’s heritage assessments are sufficient and
detailed enough to enable an understanding of proposed works and their impact on the
significance of the listed building.

6.29

The physical impact of the conversion will not result in a significant change to the exterior of
the engine house and it will remain recognisable as forming part of a rural, industrial building.
It is acknowledged that the internal alterations will result in compartmentalisation of the space
and will dilute opportunity to appreciate how the engine house related functionally to the mill.
However, since the removal of the lower floors of the windmill from the proposal, this is
considered to be less than substantial harm to the significance of the listed building, and in
line with paragraph 196 of the NPPF, should be weighed against the public benefit of
securing funds for the long term maintenance of the windmill through a viable use of the
engine house.

6.30

The engine and its machinery will be retained within the conversion, with the engine lowered
and built into the kitchen island and the line shaft remaining at its current height. As the line
shaft will no longer be under stress, the supporting struts can be removed to allow ease of
movement. Whilst noted that the engine would not be able to operate, it’s inclusion within the
proposal will allow the understanding of how the mill was operated on windless days to be
maintained, and in doing so preserves the meaning of the building in which it is housed and
the relationship between the engine house and the windmill. If auxiliary power is desirable or
necessary in the future, the Council can work with the owners of the windmill to see how an
electric motor might be fitted in a way that doesn’t result in harm to the listed building.

Page 50

6.31

The proposal to introduce additional paving and soft landscaping is considered appropriate
and whilst it is considered that additional landscaping will reinforce a more formal character
than the current grassed nature of these areas, the hard landscaping and planting scheme
can be conditioned to ensure the materials and species selected compliment the setting of
the listed building. On balance, therefore, it is considered that the landscaping scheme would
accord with policies 25, 32 and 33 of the HDPF.

6.32

In terms of the impact on the character and appearance of the wider area, it is not considered
that the proposal would have any detrimental impact on the visual amenities of the public
realm or the character of the surroundings.

6.33

Accordingly, the proposal would not conflict with policies 25, 32 or 33 of the HDPF. These
policies, in combination and amongst other things, seek to protect landscape and townscape
character and require high quality design that complements locally distinctive character and
heritage.
Amenity Impacts

6.34

Policy 33 of the HDPF provides that development should be designed and sited so as to
avoid unacceptable harm to the amenities of neighbouring occupiers.

6.35

Given the minor physical alterations associated with the proposal, it is not considered that
the proposal would result in any unacceptable impact on the amenities of neighbouring
occupiers in terms of overbearingness and/or overshadowing. The primary amenity impact
arising from the proposal, therefore, is considered to be potential disturbance arising from an
additional residential unit in this location. It is not considered that there would be any
substantial impact on the amenity of neighbours due to the small scale and nature of the
development and the residential uses in the vicinity. The nearest residential neighbour is
Carters Cottage located approximately 20 metres away.
Highways Impacts

6.36

Policy 40 of the HDPF recognises the need for sustainable transport and safe access is vital
to improve development across the district. Policy 41 of the HDPF stipulates that
development must provide adequate parking and facilities to meet the needs of anticipated
users.

6.37

An established access point will serve the proposed dwelling and currently serves the
adjacent dwelling Carters Cottage. No changes to the access are proposed and the access
is reported to be operating safely.

6.38

The applicant has provided three parking spaces for the proposed development. WSCC
parking demand calculator anticipates that two parking spaces would be adequate for a
dwelling for this size and location. As a result, the Local Highways Authority (LHA) would not
deem the proposed parking provision unacceptable and raise no concerns.

6.39

In the interests of sustainability and as result of the Government’s ‘Road to Zero’ strategy for
at least 50% of new car sales to be ultra-low emission by 2030, electric vehicle (EV) charging
points should be provided for all new homes. Active EV charging points should be provided
for the development in accordance with current EV sales rates within West Sussex (Appendix
B of WSCC Guidance on Parking at New Developments) and Horsham Local Plan policy.
Ducting should be provided to the remaining parking spaces to provide ‘passive’ provision
for these to be upgraded in future.

6.40

The applicant has proposed a nil cycle parking provision, and in interests of sustainability
and healthy lifestyles this will be required. A condition requiring cycle storage is

Page 51

recommended should this application be approved. Details will be required to ensure there
is no impact on the listed building.
Climate Change
6.41

Policies 35, 36 and 37 of the HDPF require that development mitigates to the impacts of
climate change through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk,
reducing water consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport
modes. These policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans
and decisions seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change. The proposed
development includes the following measures to build resilience to climate change and
reduce carbon emissions






Dual flush toilets
Low water use spray or aerated taps
Water saving white goods
Installation of garden water butts
The use of mechanical and electrical equipment such as combi boiler, low energy
lighting lamps etc. to minimize energy use
 External light fittings will be operated by a daylight sensor and passive infrared
movement detectors to limit light pollution and again minimize energy use
 The use of insulation with high thermal performance
6.42

In addition to these measures conditions are attached to secure the following:
 Water consumption limited to 110litres per person per day
 Requirement to provide full fibre broadband site connectivity
 Cycle Parking Provision
Other Considerations
Permitted Development

6.43

The restriction of permitted development rights for external alterations or extensions,
buildings or enclosures falling within Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B, C, D, E, F, G and H
is considered necessary, exceptionally, in the interests of the character and appearance of
the engine house and windmill.
Conclusion

6.44

The proposed conversion of the engine house at King’s Mill has the potential to secure the
conservation of the grade II* listed windmill by securing the financial income to ensure the
continued maintenance and repair can be carried out. It is good practice, as set out in the
Historic England Advice Note, to make decisions in respect of enabling development in light
of a realistic view of the consequences of refusal of planning permission. In this instance the
applicant has advised that the absence of an acceptable enabling development being
delivered may mean that the windmill starts to fall into a state of disrepair. This is something
neither the owners, the community or the Council want.

6.42

As set out in preceding sections of this report, it is considered that the proposed development
would not result in any adverse impact on the character or appearance of Shipley, on
neighbouring amenity or the highway network, with no other unacceptable impacts identified.
It is considered that the scheme as submitted and amended has now reached the point where
the balance has shifted and the benefits of conversion to residential use outweigh the harm
to the special interest of the listed building. The proposed conversion will be limited to the
engine house only and that this will avoid alteration or disruption to the smock mill and
maintain the possibility of it being brought back into use in the future. The finances for the

Page 52

ongoing maintenance and repair programme have been independently reviewed and it has
been demonstrated that the development is the likely minimum necessary to secure funding
for the identified restoration and conservation works to the windmill. It is considered that the
evaluation of alternative options which could potentially cause less harm has been thorough
enough to show that this is the optimum viable use.
6.43

6.44

6.45

It is therefore recommended that this application be permitted subject to appropriate
conditions and the signing of a Section 106 agreement to secure finance for the ongoing
maintenance of the windmill and requiring a number of open days throughout the year. In the
event that the legal agreement is not completed within three months of the decision of this
Committee, the Director of Place be authorised to refuse permission on the grounds of failure
to secure the obligations necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms.
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017.
It is considered that this development constitutes CIL liable development. At the time
of drafting this report the proposal involves the following:
Use Description

Proposed

District Wide Residential

66

Existing

Net Gain

66
Total Gain

0
0

Total Demolition
Please note that exemptions and/or reliefs may be applied for up until the commencement
of a chargeable development.
In the event that planning permission is granted, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued
thereafter. CIL payments are payable on commencement of development.
7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

It is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions:
Conditions:
2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall begin before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development above ground floor slab level of
any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a schedule of
materials and finishes and colours to be used for external walls, windows and roofs of
the approved building(s) has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority in writing and all materials used in the construction of the development hereby
permitted shall conform to those approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control
the development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve a
building of visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

Page 53

4

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor
slab level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until
confirmation has been submitted, in writing, to the Local Planning Authority that the
relevant Building Control body will be requiring the optional standard for water usage
across the development. The dwellings hereby permitted shall meet the optional
requirement of building regulation G2 to limit the water usage of each dwelling to 110
litres per person per day. The subsequently approved water limiting measures shall
thereafter be retained.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to limit water use in order to improve the
sustainability of the development in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).

5

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a drainage
strategy detailing the proposed means of foul and surface water disposal has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly
drained and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

6

Pre-Commencement Condition: No relevant works shall commence until the
following details have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The works must not be executed other than in complete accordance with
these approved details:
a)

Drawings to a scale not smaller than 1:5 fully describing:
- new windows and external doors.
These drawings must show:
- materials
- decorative/protective finish
- cross section of frame, transom, mullions, glazing bars, etc.
- formation of openings including reveals, heads, sills, etc.
- method of opening
- method of glazing

b)

Samples or specifications of external materials and surface finishes.

c)

Specification and/or drawings fully describing method of incorporating thermal, fire
and sound insulation, describing the effect on the appearance and fabric of historic
and architectural features. This is particularly relevant at roof/wall junctions.

Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the significance of the designated
heritage asset, and the character, appearance and integrity of the building, is not
prejudiced, thereby preserving the special architectural or historic interest which it
possesses, and to comply with Policy 34 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).
7

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the development
hereby permitted, full details of all hard and soft landscaping works shall have been
submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall
include plans and measures addressing the following:
 Details of all existing trees and planting to be retained
 Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying species,
planting size, densities and plant numbers and tree pit details

Page 54

 A written outline soft specification, including ground preparation, cultivation and
other operations associated with plant and grass establishment
 Details of all hard surfacing materials and finishes
 Details of all boundary treatments
 Details of all external lighting
The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the
approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any
part of the development. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved landscaping,
no trees or hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted, felled/removed,
topped or lopped without the previous written consent of the Local Planning Authority
until 5 years after completion of the development. Any proposed planting, which within
a period of 5 years, dies, is removed, or becomes seriously damaged or diseased shall
be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless
the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape
and townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of
visual amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).
8

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the development
hereby permitted, a plan showing the layout of the proposed development and the
provision of car parking spaces for vehicles shall have been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling hereby permitted shall be
occupied or use hereby permitted commenced until the parking spaces associated with
it have been provided in accordance with the approved details. The areas of land so
provided shall thereafter be retained for the parking of vehicles.
Reason: To ensure that adequate and satisfactory provision is made for the parking of
vehicles clear of all highways in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015)

9

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the development
hereby permitted, details of secure and covered cycle parking facilities for the
occupants of, and visitors to, the development shall have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling hereby permitted shall
be occupied or use hereby permitted commenced until the approved cycle parking
facilities associated with that dwelling or use have been fully implemented and made
available for use. The provision for cycle parking shall thereafter be retained for use at
all times.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles in
accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

10

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be first occupied
unless and until provision for the storage of refuse/recycling has been made for that
dwelling in accordance with details that have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. These facilities shall thereafter be retained for use at
all times.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of refuse and recycling facilities in
accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

11

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling, the
necessary in-building physical infrastructure and external site-wide infrastructure to

Page 55

enable superfast broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second through full fibre
broadband connection shall be provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future
occupiers in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).
12

Regulatory Condition: No works for the implementation of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays
and 08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or
public Holidays
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

13

Regulatory Condition: If, during development, contamination not previously identified
is found to be present at the site then no further development shall be carried out until
a remediation strategy has been submitted to and approved by the local planning
authority detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with. The
remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, controlled
waters or the wider environment during and following the development works and to
ensure that any pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

14

Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (and/or any Order
revoking and/or re-enacting that Order no development falling within Classes A B C D
E F G and H of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the order shall be erected, constructed or placed
within the curtilage(s) of the development hereby permitted without express planning
consent from the Local Planning Authority first being obtained.
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and due to the historic setting of the Listed
Building and importance of conserving the setting in accordance with Policy 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

15

Regulatory Condition: All new and replacement rainwater goods shall be cast iron or
cast aluminium.
Reason: To ensure that the significance of the designated heritage asset, and the
character, appearance and integrity of the building, is not prejudiced, thereby
preserving the special architectural or historic interest which it possesses, and to
comply with Policy 34 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

16

Regulatory Condition: No new plumbing, pipes, soil stacks, flues, vents, ductwork or
the like, shall be fixed to any external face of the building other than as shown on the
drawings hereby approved.
Reason: To ensure that the significance of the designated heritage asset, and the
character, appearance and integrity of the building, is not prejudiced, thereby
preserving the special architectural or historic interest which it possesses, and to
comply with Policy 34 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

17

Regulatory Condition: No new grilles, security alarms, lighting, cameras or other like
items shall be fixed to any external face of the building other than as shown on the
drawings hereby approved.

Page 56

Reason: To ensure that the significance of the designated heritage asset, and the
character, appearance and integrity of the building, is not prejudiced, thereby
preserving the special architectural or historic interest which it possesses, and to
comply with Policy 34 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Background Papers: DC/20/0321 and DC/20/0322

Page 57

This page is intentionally left blank

07) DC/20/0321
Kings Mill, School Lane, Shipley, Horsham, West Sussex, RH13 8PL

¯

The Oaks

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

13.8m
14.6m

Kings Land

12.8m

Cottage

Cooks

Issues
L
SCHOO L

A NE

1 34

Cotts

Kings Land
2 1

Carters
Cottage

Church Causeway Cottages
TCB
LB

Shipley

King's
Windmill

St Marys Vicarage

Riv
er

FB

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

19/11/2020

Page 59MSA Number

100023865

Ad

ur

This page is intentionally left blank

PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT – ADDENDUM
AGENDA ITEMS 7 AND 8 – DC/20/0321 and DC/20/0322
Agenda Item 7 – DC/20/0321
Public access to windmill
Paragraph 6.43 of the committee report reads: ‘It is therefore recommended that this application be
permitted subject to appropriate conditions and the signing of a Section 106 agreement to secure
finance for the ongoing maintenance of the windmill and requiring a number of open days
throughout the year.’ This is incorrect and the requirement for a number of open days should be
removed as this does not form part of the recommendation.
This application does not include a specific proposal to open the mill to the public due to the costs
of the insurance which the applicant contends would make the development unviable and threaten
the funds accumulated for the repairs of the mill. It should be noted that this application does not
permanently restrict public access to the windmill for the future, and this is something we would
encourage the applicant to reconsider in the future. The windmill will have an entirely separate
entrance and if the owners felt inclined to open the windmill to the public again in the future, this
would still be workable and achievable.
Confidential information
An appendix to this addendum with confidential information has been circulated to members. As it
is exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act
1972 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the
authority holding that information) it should not be made public and any discussion of the confidential
appendix will be held in closed session. The rest of the addendum and the report will be considered
in public.
Mortgage information
The Council has been furnished with a copy of a Mortgage Illustration and offer letter (confidential
appendix attached). Notwithstanding the submission of these documents in support of the
applications, it is recommended that the Section 106 Agreement should include a clause requiring
confirmation of funding being secured prior to commencement of development. This would include
a Secured Mortgage Offer or confirmation of funds from another source. If this clause cannot be met
then the development cannot be implemented. This would ensure that the restoration and on-going
maintenance of the windmill was secured through the legal agreement.

Agenda Item 8 – DC/20/0322
The Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings (SPAB) - Windmill Section have submitted further
comments to the proposal. These revert back to their originally submitted comments stating the
following:
The minor public benefits that might result from the creation of a single dwelling do not outweigh the
harm that would be done to the heritage asset. This harm would result from a change of use that
would affect the long term ability of the structure to function as an historic windmill. The SPAB Mills
Section therefore object to the application.
The Council’s Conservation Officer and the Officers assessment concludes that following significant
amendments to the scheme the heritage benefits do now outweigh any harm caused. Benefits

Page 61

include a sum secured for the long term maintenance and preservation of the listed building sufficient
to secure the future of the windmill, and by avoiding alteration to the smock mill itself the possibility
of it being brought back onto use in the future is maintained.

End

Page 62

Appendix 1
The following Appendix is exempt by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 - Information relating to
the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the
authority holding that information)

Page 63

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee (North)

BY:

Head of Development

DATE:

1 December 2020

DEVELOPMENT:

Works to facilitate the change of use of the Engine House to form a 2bedroom residential property (Listed Building Consent)

SITE:

King’s Mill School Lane Shipley Horsham West Sussex RH13 8PL

WARD:

Southwater South and Shipley

APPLICATION:

DC/20/0322

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr and Mrs C Eustace
RH13 8PL

Address: Kingsland Shipley Horsham

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than 8 persons in different households have
made written representation raising material
planning considerations that are inconsistent with
the recommendation of the Head of Development
and at the request Councillor Lindsay, Councillor
Stannard and Councillor Vickers
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve listed building consent, subject to appropriate conditions

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

Listed Building Consent is sought for the conversion of the engine house of King’s Mill to a
2-bedroom residential property. The proposal has been amended during consideration of the
application, with the original submission seeking consent to convert the lower floors of the
windmill, as well as the engine house, to create a larger 3-bedroom dwelling.

1.3

The proposal, as amended, would see the following alterations to the engine house to
facilitate the conversion of the engine house only to provide a dwelling:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Insulate the floor and ceiling
Create new stud walls on the inside of the existing timber frame and full fill with insulation
Restoration and decoration of existing windows
Installation of new windows and door in keeping with the existing in style, materiality and
colour
Remove existing corrugated metal wall sheets and replace with new
Replace corrugated roof sheets with new insulated roof panels
Externally to lay grasscrete to create a parking area.

Contact Officer: Kate Turner

Page 65

Tel:

1.4

The proposal for the conversion of the engine house into a dwelling has been submitted with
the intended aim of securing a long-term solution to finance the ongoing repair and
maintenance works required to ensure the condition of the mill is not at risk. A full planning
application has also been submitted (reference DC/20/0321).
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.5

King’s Mill, is situated in a rural location outside of any defined built up area boundary. It is
situated on the south side of School Lane, a country lane reached off Red Lane and Pound
Lane. The site is located within the Shipley Conservation Area and is a Grade II* Listed
Building.

1.6

The listing description describes the windmill as follows:
Smock mill and engine house. Mill of 1879 for Mr Friend Marten by Grist and Steel,
millwrights of Horsham, engine house of 1880. Corn mill of four storeys has octagonal
"roundhouse" of tarred weather-boarding. Platform above this supported on diagonal struts.
Upper storeys faced with weather-boarding. Pointed hexagonal cap with ball finial. Sweeps
and fantail intact. Attached engine house of one storey corrugated iron on wooden frame
with partially gabled and partially hipped corrugated iron roof and casement windows. Steam
engine no longer present but water pump survives. Good example of a smock mill in working
order and the most recent and biggest windmill in Sussex. The engine house has always
been an integral part of the mill and its history and was built within months of the completion
of the windmill in 1880. There are two inscriptions over a window on the second floor of the
mill: "Engine started January 6th 1880" and "First day new engine October 20th 1880". The
steam engine was important to the operation of the mill as the location was not ideal for
catching the wind. The mill was bought in 1906 by the author Hilaire Belloc, who owned it
until his death in 1953. The mill was worked until 1926 when the engine was disposed of.

1.7

The windmill was granted planning permission and listed building consent in 1999 for
alterations to the engine shed to provide display visitor facilities and to install ancillary
engines. The engine house is currently used for storage.

1.8

The engine house is attached to the windmill and currently consists of corrugated metal sheet
walls, large timber barn doors to the north elevation with metal clad gable end, a corrugated
metal roof finished with black bitumen, timber framed white casement windows, two
dilapidated attached timber structures used for storage and a single timber ledged and
battened door to the west elevation.

1.9

The mill is not currently in a working condition but is confirmed by a millrights report to be in
good condition despite requiring a number of repairs. The access to the site is already
established via a timber gate and set within a grassed curtilage adjacent to residential
properties and open fields.

1.10

The engine house was erected shortly after the mill was completed in order to drive the
millstones and machinery when there was no wind. The original engine was removed but
has been replaced with the existing engine.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990

Page 66

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
2.2

The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:

2.3

National Planning Policy Framework

2.4

Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 4 - Strategic Policy: Settlement Expansion
Policy 7 - Strategic Policy: Economic Growth
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 34 - Cultural and Heritage Assets
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

2.5

The Examination of the Shipley Neighbourhood Plan is now complete and the Inspector’s
Report has been issued. It therefore carries significant weight in decision making. A
referendum will be held in 2021. The relevant policies of the Shipley Neighbourhood Plan
are as follows:
Policy Ship HD1: New Housing Development
Policy Ship HD2: Housing Mix
Policy Ship HD3: High Quality Design
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS

2.6

The most recent and relevant planning history relating to this site is as follows:
DC/20/0321
Change of use of engine house to form 2Under
bedroom residential property (Full Application)
consideration
SP/19/99

Alteration to engine shed to provide display visitor
facilities and to install ancillary engines

Application
Permitted on
14.06.1999

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS

3.2

HDC Conservation: No Objection subject to conditions.
“King’s Mill is a well-recognised feature of Shipley and in the landscape. It is a good example
of a smock mill and illustrates the technology and construction at the end of the nineteenth
century. The importance of the building is reinforced by its listing at grade II*. The decision
to build the windmill in this location is intriguing as it struggled to catch the wind and an
engine was required to make the mill sustainable. For this reason the engine house forms
an important part of the special interest of the building. Although the windmill does require
repair, and I have been in communication with the owners relatively recently about repair to
the fan tail and gear rack, it retains much if not all of its internal workings such that it is not
inconceivable that it could operate again. This is important as many historic mills have lost
their internal workings and survive as shells. Although we cannot insist on the mill being

Page 67

brought back into use it is necessary that we consider its optimum viable use, the use that
will result in the least harm and in this case the use for which it was built, and ensure that
this original use is not jeopardised or prevented in the future.
In order that the building can support itself in terms of funding continued maintenance and
repair, I am satisfied the principle of sustainable conversion is acceptable. Following detailed
discussions with the applicants’ agent we have reached a point where I feel the benefits of
conversion to residential use will outweigh the harm to the special interest of the listed
building. The proposed conversion will be limited to the engine house. This will avoid
alteration or disruption to the smock mill and maintain the possibility of it being brought back
into use in the future. An argument could be made that converting the engine house will
reduce the likelihood of the mill working again as this will prevent the reuse of an auxiliary
engine. I am satisfied that there will be other ways to power the workings if wind power is not
sufficient and that there are ways to connect and house an auxiliary power unit such as an
electric motor without harm to the special interest of the listed building. The existing engine
is one fitted in the recent past as a museum piece rather than forming part of the historic
workings. If there is interest in working the mill commercially in the future then we can
consider the requirements for this in light of the loss of storage and working space in the
engine house. The physical impact of the conversion will not result in a significant change to
the exterior of the engine house and it will remain recognisable as forming part of a rural,
industrial building. The internal alterations will result in compartmentalisation of the space
and will dilute opportunity to appreciate how the engine house related functionally to the mill.
In paying special regard to the desirability of preserving the special interest of the listed
building I am mindful that these alterations will be harmful. However, I am satisfied this harm
is less than substantial and is outweighed by the public benefit of ensuring funding is
available for conservation of the asset in the future and to prevent further deterioration in the
short term. My immediate consideration is to ensure the mill is preserved as it currently exists
and does not deteriorate. It is right that the Council supports a scheme that provides a viable
and sustainable income for continued maintenance. To this end it is appropriate that the
income from the residential use is tied to a maintenance and repair schedule in perpetuity.”
OUTSIDE AGENCIES
3.3

Historic England: Historic England formally commented on the proposals at each of the
three consultations. These three responses are summarised below:
1 April 2020 – Concerns raised.
Summary – “Kingsmill at Shipley is a highly significant Windmill listed at grade two star as a
rare survival of smock mill in working order. Historic England considers the proposals to
convert the engine house and lower floors to residential use would cause harm to the
significance of the windmill as a result of changes to the functional and utilitarian character
of these spaces and to the understanding of how the mill operated. We also have concerns
regarding the direct impact of the proposals and whether these would prohibit the mill ever
working properly once converted as well as preventing any potential future public access.
We appreciate that the proposed scheme seeks to secure a sustainable future for the building
but do not think that the current submissions have demonstrated that all harm has been
avoided or minimised; the harm that remains has been clearly and convincingly justified; and
the proposals are the optimum viable use, as required by paragraphs 190, 194 and 196 of
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).”
5 June 2020 – Concerns raised.
“We appreciate that there is a real need to generate funds to secure the repair and long term
maintenance of the windmill and that the owner is willing to accept some limited public
access. However, we remain concerned that the mill would not be able to work properly once
the engine house and lower floors were converted to residential use. We are also concerned
that conversion would make it more difficult to understand how these spaces contributed to
the operation of the windmill and the milling process. We note that the Sussex Industrial

Page 68

Archaeological Society and former members of the trust also hold this view. They explain
that the lower floors, engine house and engine are important elements of the working mill.
Conversion of the lower spaces would prevent the operation of the sack hoist enabling flour
to be lowered to the ground floor, and likewise, grain to be raised up through these floors to
the bin floor. In addition Sussex Industrial Archaeology Society highlight the importance of
the engine house and engine within it for understanding how millers overcame site difficulties
and the lack of wind, by installing alternative power. Furthermore, the conversion would
impact on the appreciation of the functional and utilitarian character of the mill.
In terms of the assessment of options that has been provided, we would expect the Local
Planning Authority to rigorously scrutinise this information to ensure that the three
bedroomed dwelling is in fact the optimum viable use (i.e. the viable use that causes least
harm to the building’s significance) as required by para 194 NPPF. We note that the
assessment lacks any financial analysis of the alternatives, including why a smaller change
would not generate sufficient funds, or any market testing of the demand for other uses.
Before any conversion of the mill is accepted, use as i) a visitor attraction, and ii) a separate
residential building should be given fuller and more serious consideration. From the
representations received we can see that there is a real appetite and enthusiasm for the reestablishment of the trust and the running of the mill as a visitor attraction, with the offer of
support from local residents to achieve this.”
“Historic England still has serious concerns with regards to these applications on heritage
grounds.
We consider that the issues and advice in our letter need to be addressed in order for the
application to meet the requirements of paragraphs 190, 193, 194 and 196 of the NPPF.”
3 September 2020 – Comments.
“Historic England previously commented on earlier versions of this scheme in our letters
dated 1st April and 5th June 2020.
In these letters, we highlighted the significance of Kings Mill, as a rare survival of an intact
smock mill in working order and listed at grade II*. We also raised concerns regarding the
proposal to convert both the engine house and lower floors of the windmill to residential use.
This was because we considered it would cause harm to the significance of the windmill
through the loss of the functional and utilitarian character of the converted spaces, which
would make it more difficult for a visitor to appreciate how it functioned as a working mill. In
addition, we had concerns regarding the direct impact of the proposal and whether this would
prohibit the mill ever working properly once converted, as well as preventing any potential
future public access.
The proposal has now been amended to involve solely the conversion of the engine house,
as well as retaining the machinery and engine, so that they can still be read as part of the
working of the mill.
Historic England considers that this change is an improvement over the previous scheme as
it will maintain the intactness of the smock mill and therefore the possibility of it being brought
back into working use in the future. The retention of the machinery within the engine house
also maintains the understanding of how the mill was operated on windless days and in doing
so preserves the meaning of the building in which it is housed.
However, the proposal will still cause some harm to significance through the subdivision and
domestication of the interior of the engine house and the loss of its functional and utilitarian
character. The conversion to domestic use will also prevent any potential future operation of
the windmill on days without wind.

Page 69

Any proposal requiring planning permission or listed building consent is judged in the context
of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), which gives great weight to the
conservation of heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance. Harm to
heritage significance should be avoided or minimised (Para 190). Where harm is unavoidable
it must be clearly and convincingly justified (Para 194). Such harm can then be weighed
against any public benefits, including securing the optimum viable use of a place (Para 196).
Historic England in its previous advice considered that the options of either a) re-establishing
the mill as a visitor attraction operated under a trust; or b) the provision of a separate building,
detached from the windmill and in a location that does not significantly compromise its setting
should both be given serious consideration, before the conversion of the mill is accepted.
We felt that these options would be less harmful to significance of the windmill and would
facilitate future public access.
We are aware that these options have been discussed with the applicants and their agent
and for different reasons are not considered by them to be achievable or deliverable. We
also appreciate that funds for the repair and maintenance of the windmill need to be found if
it is not to deteriorate further and that this scheme has the potential to deliver an income to
achieve this.
We therefore recommend that the Local Planning Authority rigorously scrutinise the proposal
and supporting information to determine whether the requirements of the NPPF are met. In
particular, firstly is harm as far as possible unavoidable and clearly and convincingly justified
in relation to a dwelling house scheme, and secondly is a dwelling house scheme actually
the optimum viable use for this building (i.e. the viable use that causes least harm to the
building’s significance)? Furthermore, is the income generated from the proposal (which is
identified as a heritage benefit and which may be weighed against the harm) sufficient to
secure the future of the windmill as is claimed?
If the applications are approved, they should be controlled by a condition or legal agreement
that requires the monies generated to be tied to the repair and maintenance of the windmill
in perpetuity. We also recommend that some level of public access to the building, such as
on heritage open days, is secured as part of these proposals.”
3.4

The Society for The Protection of Ancient Buildings (SPAB): SPAB formally commented
on the proposals at two of the consultations. These responses are summarised below:
24 March 2020 – Concerns raised.
“In our view this application fails to meet the tests of national planning policy in the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).
As a listed building it is important that the significance of King’s Windmill should be sustained.
We feel the current application fails to do this. The Design and Access statement suggests
that the applicants ‘are mindful of continuing the maintenance regime and are seeking to
create a sustainable plan for the future by adapting the mill to put in place a user who through
occupancy will continue the maintenance regime and generate an income to sustain it.’
However, we are concerned that domestic occupation is unlikely to be compatible with use
as a working mill.
We feel the harm resulting from conversion could be substantial, but even if ‘less than
substantial’, the NPPF is still clear in its guidance ‘“Where a development proposal will lead
to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate,
securing its optimum viable use.” The optimum viable use of the historic structure is, in our
view, a as working mill. This was demonstrated when the mill was previously open to the
public on a regular basis – tourists were attracted to the building and to the area. There is no
evidence presented to show that this use has ceased to be viable.

Page 70

The minor public benefits that might result from the creation of a single dwelling do not
outweigh the harm that would be done to the heritage asset. This harm would result from a
change of use that would affect the long term ability of the structure to function as an historic
windmill.
For all these reasons, the SPAB Mills Section objects to the application.”
1 September – Comments.
“The SPAB Mills Section is satisfied that the new plans have taken into account our previous
submitted objections.
The architects are making a reasonable plan for covering ongoing costs of maintenance from
rent of the house. We would like to advise Horsham District Council to monitor that the rent
is used for the benefit of maintaining the mill once the modifications are done and rent is
coming in.”
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS
3.5

In total 32 representations (some from the same households) have been received across the
three consultations. The first two consultations considered a three bedroomed scheme which
included the conversion of the lower floors of the windmill as well as the engine house. 23
responses were received to these consultations held in Feb/March and April/May, with one
being in support. These representations can be summarised as follows:
 This is the last complete smock mill capable of working throughout the county and must
be maintained for the benefit of future generations
 An important part of Sussex heritage that should be retained in its original condition
 Loss of important protected landmark
 Irreversible harm to the listed building
 Will remove the windmill from internal public access forever and the upper floors from
maintenance
 Public access should be maintained
 Will prevent the Mill from every being restored to working order
 Conversion cannot be achieved without an impact on the historic fabric of the mill
 The best future for the windmill would be to reinstate the Trust, which could then raise the
necessary funds to restore the windmill to working order
 Shipley Windmill is very different to the other examples given and not comparable
 The windmill is in a state of neglect/ disrepair and lacks maintenance
 The scheme is not necessary or justified in order to preserve the mill for future generations
as there is a great deal of interest and enthusiasm locally and within various conservation
organisations which could be drawn upon to facilitate its preservation and maintenance
 Request for parish of Shipley to set up a Shipley Windmill charitable trust and take on the
running of the windmill
 Background to reasons charitable trust terminated their lease and their reluctance/
disappointment with this
 Internal works would destroy the fabric of the listed building
 Concern over financial viability of the proposal
 impact on nearby gardens from overlooking
 Unclear how the ground and first floor ceilings can be left with exposed joists whilst also
maintaining insulation standards and the existing ladders retained
 No public benefit of this proposal, only a loss of amenity
 Not the optimum viable use
 Would constitute substantial harm and none of the four tests are satisfied
 Loss of engine

Page 71

 Whilst the original engine has gone, there remains the original physical connections to the
mill and the physical landscape of the original which would be compromised if converted
 Interest in historic mills and stoneground flour has grown
 Goes against the principle of the lottery money donated to repair the sails provided the
building was opened up
 As an absolute minimum planning permission should come with conditions surrounding
maintenance and regular public openings
 Will lead to development of upper floors
 It is not true that mills with sails/sweeps cannot produce electricity - see Ashcombe in
Lewes
 Concerned that the application does not seem to contain any reference to the legally
binding agreement that was made in the past to continue to maintain the mill
 Construction noise and impact on roads during development
 Change in the landscape
3.6

The third consultation was held in August/September and sought comments on the amended
2-bedroom engine house conversion scheme that is the subject of this report. 9 additional
comments were received from members of the public, including one in support, which can
be summarised as follows:


















Other funding options should be explored including the creation of a new charitable trust
Demonstrable harm has not been justified
Loss of historic character of the Engine House
Engine house is integral part of the mill and its history
Need more financial clarity
Should be restored not converted
Public funds spent previously are being disregarded
Engine shed is not suitable for conversion
Will remove the windmill from public access forever
Should be retained open to the public/tourists
Should be used for locally milled flour
Building should be controlled by the Council or compulsory purchased
Takes away the possibility of the mill being used via the engine in the future/being restored
to working order
Gridforce mesh matting is not in keeping
Existing door should be retained
Water pump and barn door gable hinges should be retained
Alternative options such as shepherds huts holiday accommodation suggested

3.7

The Sussex Industrial Archaeology and the Sussex Mills Group
The Sussex Industrial Archaeology Society and Sussex Mills Group have both objected to
the proposals at each consultation stage. These are detailed responses not reproduced in
this committee report but available on the public portal. The objections to the proposal
subject to this report are reproduced below.

3.8

The Sussex Industrial Archaeology Society – Objection.
“I refer to previous objections to this application that this Society has made and note that no
alterations are now to be made to the Mill itself. However as previously stated the engine
house is an historic adjunct to the mill, being erected shortly after the mill’s completion and
demonstrating the ingenuity of our forefathers in solving practical problems; in this case the
lack of wind availability. In previous applications for similar conversion of the engine house,
which were not approved, it was noted by English Heritage that a sustainable solution to
secure the mill’s future should be found. Does this revised application ensure this? –
unfortunately no.

Page 72

I note that the previous application’s financial figures for funding the mill repairs are used in
this application, which is for a lesser amount of conversion work. Assumptions are made that
the conversion can be funded by a mortgage, as yet not agreed, and that the full proposed
contribution from this transaction will be sufficient to cover the immediate and urgent repairs
needed for this important listed building.
It is not made clear whether this money would be utilised immediately or following the
completion and letting of the conversion during which time the mill will deteriorate further.
Should the desired rental income be achieved, this as stated may cover the cyclical costs
but there is no proposal as to how future major repairs, which will inevitably occur, will be
funded.”
“The concern of the Sussex Industrial Archaeology Society is that the mill will further decay
to such an extent that it can no longer ever be workable, a sad and unnecessary loss to one
of the historic buildings of the County which ten years ago was working and had a future with
an a dedicated group of local supporters.
As such Sussex Industrial Archaeology Society maintains its strong objection to these
applications.”
3.9

The Sussex Mills Group – Objection.
“The Sussex Mills Group still opposes this revised proposal on the following grounds. It will
lead to an unnecessary irreversible change to one of the most important historic windmills in
England.
1. The engine shed is a critical and unique feature of the mill. It is a relatively lightweight
timber construction covered with corrugated iron sheeting. Hence it will not be possible to
convert it into suitable living accommodation, complying with all necessary building
regulations, in the way proposed without fundamental changes to its historic fabric.
Furthermore being within the curtilage of a listed building it will also have a negative impact
on the windmill. A solution that would be considerably less detrimental to the mill would be
to erect a completely new building for living accommodation away from the mill.
2. The revised 'design and access statement' still incorrectly states that the auxiliary engine
was acquired by the volunteers to run the sweeps for visitors when there was no wind. This
is not true. The engine is a second hand replacement of the original auxiliary engine which
was used to drive the mill's machinery when there was no wind during most of the mill's
commercial working life. When commercial milling ceased the engine was removed, probably
for scrap, as was often the case with mills across Britain. In the early 2000s the trust
managed to acquire the present engine to replace the original and it was set up in the original
position with the original machinery. Although it is not the original engine it is still a vital part
of the mill's heritage. In the same spirit the sweeps, fantail, reefing stage and much of the
external cladding are not original, having been replaced due to decay, but are still vital
features of the mill and could not be removed.
3. The revised 'design and access statement' states that the need for change is to fund
repairs and maintenance and no alternative is viable. This is not true. It implies that the use
of the premises as a museum and visitor centre by the trustees between 1987 and 2009
failed due to a lack of funding and volunteer labour. This is not true. Care of the mill in this
way would still be continuing in this way successfully today had the owner consented to
renew the lease which was due to expire in 2010. The imminent expiry of the lease prohibited
the trustees from obtaining the necessary funding from grants and so the volunteers and
trustees surrendered the lease in 2009 because of this. There is still a great deal of good will
locally and within the heritage community and creation of a new trust would be a viable option
to maintain the mill if the owners were in agreement. There are numerous successful
examples of mills being run in this way across Britain. Furthermore it is unlikely that the rental

Page 73

income from living accommodation of the size and type proposed would cover the cost of
repairs and maintenance stated by the proposal. It is also questionable if the huge
expenditure needed for the building works to convert the engine shed is available, why it is
not being spent directly on the repairs currently needed for the mill.”
PARISH COUNCIL CONSULTATION
3.10

Shipley Parish Council: Objection (4 September).
1. Financial - Members were not convinced that the financial model proposed by the
applicant was sustainable creating a risk that the income from the proposed development
may not fund maintenance of the windmill in future years.
2. Funding options - Members pointed out (from personal experience) that other funding
options to maintain the windmill had been proposed in the past but had been rejected by
the applicant. These options were not considered in the financial analysis provided by
the applicant. These options would have afforded the opportunity for grant income to
maintain the windmill.
3. Design - Members noted the professional objections from English Heritage and Historic
England and supported their findings and recommendations.
4. History and amenity - Members noted the large number of objections (the most received
in recent times) from both local residents and from further afield. Members agreed with
the majority of comments that the windmill is a local community asset and the that the
removal of the engine room would be hugely detrimental and at odds with the grade 2*
listing.
5. Conclusion and decision - on balance, all the consultee reports before Members seem to
agree that the amended application will not change the preservation of the windmill any
more that compared to the current situation.

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

6.1

Paragraph 193 of the NPPF (2018) states that "when considering the impact of proposed
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given
to the asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should
be)." Paragraph 194 continues to state that "any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a
designated heritage asset (from its alterations or destruction, or for of development within its
setting), should require clear and convincing justification."

6.2

Paragraph 192 of the NPPF states “In determining applications, local planning authorities
should take account of: a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of
heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; b) the
positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable
communities including their economic vitality; and c) the desirability of new development
making a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness.”

Page 74

6.3

Policy 34 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) states “The Council
recognises that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource, and as such the Council will
sustain and enhance its historic environment through positive management of development
affecting heritage assets.”

6.4

King’s Mill is a well-recognised feature of Shipley and in the landscape. It is a good example
of a smock mill and illustrates the technology and construction at the end of the nineteenth
century. The importance of the building is reinforced by its listing at grade II*. The decision
to build the windmill in this location is intriguing as it struggled to catch the wind and an
engine was required to make the mill sustainable. For this reason, the engine house forms
an important part of the special interest of the building.

6.5

Although the windmill does require some repair it retains much if not all of its internal workings
such that it is not inconceivable that it could operate again. This is important as many historic
mills have lost their internal workings and survive as shells. Although it cannot be insisted
that the mill be brought back into use, it is necessary that its optimum viable use is
considered, the use that will result in the least harm, and in this case the use for which it was
built, and ensure that this original use is not jeopardised or prevented in the future.

6.6

In order that the building can support itself in terms of funding continued maintenance and
repair, the principle of sustainable conversion is considered acceptable. Following
amendments to the proposal, the benefits of a sympathetic conversion to residential use are
now considered to outweigh the harm to the special interest of the listed building. The
proposed conversion will be limited to the engine house only as opposed to the lower levels
of the windmill too as originally proposed. This will avoid alteration or disruption to the smock
mill and maintain the possibility of it being brought back into use in the future. An argument
could be made that converting the engine house will reduce the likelihood of the mill working
again as this will prevent the reuse of an auxiliary engine. However, it is considered that there
will be other ways to power the workings if wind power is not sufficient and there are ways to
connect and house an auxiliary power unit such as an electric motor without harm to the
special interest of the listed building. The existing engine is one fitted in the recent past as a
museum piece rather than forming part of the historic workings.

6.7

The physical impact of the conversion will not result in a significant change to the exterior of
the engine house and it will remain recognisable as forming part of a rural, industrial building.
It is acknowledged that the internal alterations will result in compartmentalisation of the space
and will dilute opportunity to appreciate how the engine house related functionally to the mill.
In paying special regard to the desirability of preserving the special interest of the listed
building, these alterations are likely to be harmful. However, this harm is considered to be
less than substantial and is outweighed by the public benefit of ensuring funding is available
for conservation of the asset in the future and to prevent further deterioration in the short
term. In ensuring that the mill is preserved as it currently exists and does not deteriorate, it
is considered that support should be given to a scheme that provides a viable and sustainable
income for continued maintenance. To this end, it is appropriate that the income from any
residential use of the engine room is tied to a maintenance and repair schedule in perpetuity,
through a Section 106 agreement tied to the full planning application (reference DC/20/0321).

6.8

In conclusion, it is considered that the proposed works would preserve the historic interest
of the grade II* listed building, in accordance with development plan policies, and that the
less than substantial harm caused will be outweighed by the public benefit of securing
ongoing funds to do so. The application for listed building consent for works to facilitate the
conversion of the engine house to provide a dwelling is therefore recommended for approval,
subject to appropriate conditions.

Page 75

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

It is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions:
Conditions:
2

Standard Time Condition: The works hereby permitted shall begin before the
expiration of three years from the date of this consent.
Reason: To comply with Sections 18 (as amended) and 74 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

3

Pre-Commencement Condition: No relevant works shall commence until the
following details have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The works must not be executed other than in complete accordance with
these approved details:
a)

Drawings to a scale not smaller than 1:5 fully describing:
- new windows and external doors.
These drawings must show:
- materials
- decorative/protective finish
- cross section of frame, transom, mullions, glazing bars, etc
- formation of openings including reveals, heads, sills, etc
- method of opening
- method of glazing

b)

Samples or specifications of external materials and surface finishes.

c)

Specification and/or drawings fully describing method of incorporating thermal, fire
and sound insulation, describing the effect on the appearance and fabric of historic
and architectural features. This is particularly relevant at roof/wall junctions.

Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the significance of the designated
heritage asset, and the character, appearance and integrity of the building, is not
prejudiced, thereby preserving the special architectural or historic interest which it
possesses, and to comply with Policy 34 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).
4

Regulatory Condition: All new and replacement rainwater goods shall be cast iron or
cast aluminium.
Reason: To ensure that the significance of the designated heritage asset, and the
character, appearance and integrity of the building, is not prejudiced, thereby
preserving the special architectural or historic interest which it possesses, and to
comply with Policy 34 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

5

Regulatory Condition: No new plumbing, pipes, soil stacks, flues, vents, ductwork or
the like, shall be fixed to any external face of the building other than as shown on the
drawings hereby approved.
Reason: To ensure that the significance of the designated heritage asset, and the
character, appearance and integrity of the building, is not prejudiced, thereby
preserving the special architectural or historic interest which it possesses, and to
comply with Policy 34 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 76

6

Regulatory Condition: No new grilles, security alarms, lighting, cameras or other like
items shall be fixed to any external face of the building other than as shown on the
drawings hereby approved.
Reason: To ensure that the significance of the designated heritage asset, and the
character, appearance and integrity of the building, is not prejudiced, thereby
preserving the special architectural or historic interest which it possesses, and to
comply with Policy 34 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Background Papers: DC/20/0322 and DC/20/0321

Page 77

This page is intentionally left blank

08) DC/20/0322
Kings Mill, School Lane, Shipley, Horsham, West Sussex, RH13 8PL

¯

The Oaks

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

13.8m
14.6m

Kings Land

12.8m

Cottage

Cooks

Issues
L
SCHOO L

A NE

1 34

Cotts

Kings Land
2 1

Carters
Cottage

Church Causeway Cottages
TCB
LB

Shipley

King's
Windmill

St Marys Vicarage

Riv
er

FB

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

19/11/2020

Page 79MSA Number

100023865

Ad

ur

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee (North)

BY:

Head of Development

DATE:

1 December 2020

DEVELOPMENT:

Installation of surfaced highway lay-by.

SITE:

Land at The Junction of East Street, Burnt House Lane and Lambs Green
Road Chowles Rusper West Sussex RH12 4RG

WARD:

Colgate and Rusper

APPLICATION:

DC/20/0618

APPLICANT:

Name: Thames Water Utilities Ltd
Road Reading RG6 4EH

Address: Clearwater Court Vastern

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: At the request of the local member
RECOMMENDATION:

That planning permission be approved subject to appropriate conditions

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

The purpose of this report is to update Members on new information that has been submitted
and considered by Officers since the application was considered at the 2 June Planning
Committee (North) meeting. At this meeting the application was delegated to the Head of
Development with a view to approval, subject to further discussions with the applicant and
WSCC with a view to finding a means of restricting public access to the layby, in consultation
with Local Members and the Vice-Chairman of the Committee. Whilst discussions have taken
place and amended information submitted the local member has requested that this
amended information be considered at committee before a decision is made.

1.2

The applicants have provided an amended plan proposing parking restrictions and signage
(Proposed Site Layout: D322_A10-B2-AB-00603_D – received 23 October 2020). The
original committee report for the June meeting is appended to this report and forms part of
the overall planning assessment.
Background

1.3

The application seeks planning permission to install a surfaced lay-by on land near the
junction of East Street, Burnt House Lane and Lambs Green Road, Rusper. The proposed
layby would facilitate off-highway parking in connection with a new below ground wastewater
pumping station, for reasons connected with the ongoing operation of the pumping
equipment and associated rising main.

1.4

The application site is the highways verge on the west side of Lambs Green Road (a ‘C’
class road), immediately southwest of the junction with East Street/Burnt House Lane. The
site is in a rural location and currently comprises an informal layby and amenity grassland

Contact Officer: Steve Astles

Page 81

Tel: 01403 215174

with some trees. The land surrounding the application site is primarily agricultural in
character and there are open fields to the east across Lambs Green Road.
1.5

There are scattered residential properties in the area and the nearest neighbouring dwellings
are across East Street to the north. Adjacent to the site to the west is Chowles Farm
containing residences, with Chowles Farmhouse approximately 100m to the southwest.

1.6

The verge area is an adopted highway but the landowner is unknown with the parcel of land
unregistered on the Land Registry. The application site is located within Flood Zone 1 where
there is a low risk of flooding. A small watercourse (Rusperhouse Gill) is approximately 3m
to the west of the application site at its closest point and joins the Baldhorns Brook
approximately 150m to the south.

2.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

2.1

HDC Landscape Architect: No objection

2.2

WSCC Highways: No objection subject to informative relating to obtaining the relevant
consents relating to the highway works. The LHA does not consider that this proposal would
have an unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on
the operation of the highway network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy
Framework (paragraph 109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.

2.3

Rusper Parish Council: No comments received to the amended plan at the time of drafting
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

2.4

Since consideration of the application at the June meeting of Planning Committee (North),
an additional 8 letters of representations have been received (from 7 different households)
objecting to the application. These are in addition to the 20 letters received to the proposal
as originally submitted. The additional representations received raise the following concerns:
• Fly tipping/litter is an existing problem and the proposal will exacerbate this;
• Encourages overnight HGV parking/Gatwick parking;
• A layby is not needed as the site has been in operation for a number of months with no
reported accidents and is only needed on an infrequent/ad hoc basis;
• The size of the proposed layby is too big
• Hedges/trees important to wildlife

3.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

3.1

The applicants have submitted an amended site layout plan proposing parking restrictions
and signage (Proposed Site Layout: D322_A10-B2-AB-00603_D – received 23 October
2020).

3.2

Concerns have been expressed by local residents and Rusper Parish Council that an open
layby may result in fly-tipping and anti-social activities. The advice from West Sussex County
Council (WSCC) as the Local Highway Authority is that as the land is within the statutory
highway verge, an application to stop-up the lay-by (i.e. to install bollards such that the layby
is available exclusively for Thames Water access) would not be supported. For this reason,
the applicant determined not to propose to install bollards to prevent public access. It is
considered that the lay-by with the proposed parking restrictions and signage would
discourage an increase in fly tipping, which is ultimately an illegal activity irrespective of any
decision made on this application. It is therefore considered that the scheme proposing
parking restrictions (double yellow lines) and signage (with regard to parking restrictions and

Page 82

no fly-tipping) to discourage anti-social activities is acceptable relative to the scale and nature
of the scheme the subject of this application.
3.3

The amended plan proposing parking restrictions and signage is considered to be a
satisfactory arrangement rather than stopping up the lay-by to discourage anti-social
activities, to safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with policies 32 and 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF).

3.4

The proposed lay-by would provide access to a new wastewater pumping station, which is
integral to the new sewer rising main and an essential part of the wastewater infrastructure
serving the surrounding area; enabling treated effluent discharges to the Baldhorns Brook to
cease. The applicant, Thames Water, has a legal obligation under the Water Framework
Directive to reduce phosphorus levels in the waterbody to achieve Good Waterbody status.

3.5

The proposed lay-by would contribute to the efficient servicing and on-going maintenance of
the wastewater infrastructure and would represent an improvement over the previous
informal arrangement at the site and within the highway verge. The principle of the
development is considered to accord with the relevant policies of the HDPF and the
application is therefore recommended for approval, subject to detailed consideration as set
out in the Officer report of 2 June 2020, and appropriate conditions.

4

CONCLUSION

4.1

Since the committee meeting on 2 June further discussions have taken place and an
amended plan has been submitted. It is acknowledged that the constraints of the
classification of the site as public highway do not allow for bollards to be installed. Since that
meeting the applicant has submitted an amended plan proposing parking restrictions and
signage (Proposed Site Layout: D322_A10-B2-AB-00603_D – received 23 October 2020).

4.2

It is considered that the lay-by with the proposed parking restrictions and signage would
discourage an increase in fly tipping and anti-social activities, and it is not considered to be
reasonable to refuse this application because bollards cannot be installed. The principle of
the development is considered to accord with the relevant policies of the HDPF and the
application is therefore recommended for approval, subject to detailed consideration as set
out in the Officer report of 2 June 2020, and appropriate conditions.

5.

RECOMMENDATION

5.1

It is recommended that planning permission is approved subject to appropriate conditions as
detailed below:
Conditions:
1

List of approved plans

2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be begun before
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first use of any part of the development hereby
permitted, details of measures to discourage anti-social activities such as fly tipping
and overnight parking shall have been submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority in writing. The measures shall be put in place prior to the first use
of the development and shall be retained as such thereafter.

Page 83

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies 32 and
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
4

Regulatory Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in
strict accordance with the ecological mitigation and enhancement measures set out in
Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) Stantec-AMP6 Rusper Intermediate Pumping
Station Option4; dated 17.03.2020.
Reason: As these matters are fundamental to safeguard the ecology and biodiversity
of the area in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

5

Regulatory Condition: The landscaping scheme, as set out on the approved plans,
shall be fully implemented in accordance with the approved details within the first
planting season following the first use of any part of the development hereby permitted.
Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved landscaping, no trees or hedges on
the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted, felled/removed, topped or lopped without
the previous written consent of the Local Planning Authority until 5 years after
completion of the development. Any proposed planting, which within a period of 5
years, dies, is removed, or becomes seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced
in the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local
Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure the retention and maintenance of trees and vegetation on the site
unsuitable for permanent protection by Tree Preservation Order for a limited period, in
accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

6

Regulatory Condition: No external lighting or floodlighting shall be installed other than
with the permission of the Local Planning Authority by way of formal application.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality and in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

7

Regulatory Condition: No works relating to the construction of the development
hereby approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to
Fridays and 08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays and not at any time on Sundays,
Bank or public Holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Notes to Applicant
WSCC Local Highway Authority:
The applicant is required to obtain all appropriate consents from West Sussex County Council, as
Highway Authority, to cover the off-site highway works. The applicant is requested to contact the
Implementation Team Leader (01243 642105) to commence this process. The applicant is advised
that it is an offence to undertake any works within the highway prior to the agreement being in place.
The applicant is advised to also contact the WSCC Traffic Regulation Order team (01243 642105)
to obtain the necessary paperwork and commence the process associated with the proposed waiting
restrictions. The applicant would be responsible for meeting all costs associated with this process.
The applicant should note that the outcome of this process cannot be guaranteed.
Background Papers: DC/20/0618

Page 84

APPENDIX – ITEM 9

PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development

DATE:

2 June 2020

DEVELOPMENT:

Installation of surfaced highway lay-by

SITE:

Land at The Junction of East Street, Burnt House Lane and Lambs Green
Road Chowles Rusper West Sussex RH12 4RG

WARD:

Colgate and Rusper

APPLICATION:

DC/20/0618

APPLICANT:

Name: Thames Water Utilities Ltd Address: Clearwater Court Vastern
Road Reading RG6 4EH

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than 8 persons in different households
have made written representation raising
material planning considerations that are
inconsistent with the recommendation of the
Head of Development.
RECOMMENDATION:
1.

That planning permission be approved subject to appropriate conditions

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.1

The application seeks planning permission to install a surfaced lay-by on land near the
Junction of East Street, Burnt House Lane and Lambs Green Road, Rusper. The proposed
layby would facilitate off-highway parking in connection with a new below ground
wastewater pumping station, for reasons connected with the ongoing operation of the
pumping equipment and associated rising main.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.2

The application site is the highways verge on the west side of Lambs Green Road (a C
class highway), immediately southwest of the junction with East Street/BurntHouse Lane.
The site is in a rural location and currently comprises an informal layby and amenity
grassland with some standing trees. The land surrounding the application site is primarily
agricultural in character and there are open fields to the east across Lambs Green Road.

1.3

There are scattered residential properties in the area and the nearest neighbouring
dwellings are across East Street to the north. Adjacent to the site to the west is Chowles
Farm containing residences and Chowles Farmhouse is approximately 100m to the
southwest.

Contact Officer: Steve Astles

Page 85

Tel: 01403 215 174

APPENDIX – ITEM 9
1.4

The verge area is an adopted highway but the landowner is unknown with the parcel of
land unregistered on the Land Registry. The application site is located within Flood Zone 1
where there is a low risk of flooding. A small watercourse (Rusperhouse Gill) is
approximately 3m to the west of the application site at its closest point and joins the
Baldhorns Brook approximately 150m to the south.

2.

INTRODUCTION

2.1

STATUTORY BACKGROUND
The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:

2.2

National Planning Policy Framework

2.3

Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 39 - Infrastructure Provision
Policy 40 – Sustainable Parking
Policy 41 - Parking

2.4

RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
There is no made plan

2.5

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
DC/19/2046

Construction of 2 laybys - Lambs Green Road

Withdrawn 13.11.19

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers
have had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the
public file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS

3.2

HDC Landscape Architect: No objection.
EXTERNAL CONSULTATIONS

3.3

WSCC Highways: No objection. The LHA does not consider that this proposal would have
an unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the
operation of the highway network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy
Framework (paragraph 109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.

Page 86

APPENDIX – ITEM 9
PARISH COUNCIL
3.4

Parish Council: Objection. There is no clear need for the layby. An HGV would be clearly
seen by road users which will be travelling slowly due to the approaching junction.
Open laybys are an opportunity for passing motorists to fly tip, which is an increasing issue
in rural areas and has already been an issue in this location while work is being
undertaken. An open layby is also an opportunity for overnight parking, possibly linked to
parking for Gatwick Airport.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.5

18 representations were received objecting to the application for the following reasons:





Fly tipping/Litter is an existing problem and the proposal will exacerbate this;
Encourages overnight HGV parking/Gatwick parking;
A layby is not needed as the site has been in operation for a number of months with
no reported accidents and is only needed on an infrequent/ad hoc basis;
The size of the proposed layby is too big;
Hedges/trees important to wildlife

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
Background

6.1

This application seeks permission to construct a layby adjacent to the highway to facilitate
formalised off-street parking for use in connection with a new below ground wastewater
pumping station (which has been installed under permitted development) at the junction
southwest of East Street and Burnt House Lane and the west side of Lamb’s Green Road.
The lay-by would have a maximum length of approximately 21 metres and a width of
approximately 3.5 metres, and would be constructed using Type 3 Sub-base overlaid with
Porous Asphalt with finished levels to match the existing road surface of Lamb’s Green
Road.

6.2

The pumping station has been installed as part of a new below ground pipeline to transfer
wastewater flows from the existing Rusper Sewage Treatment Works (STW) to the Crawley
STW catchment area, where land levels prevent gravity flows. The Rusper STW currently
serves a population equivalent of around 400 and discharges both treated effluent and
storm overflow discharges to the Baldhorns Brook, a tributary of the River Mole.

6.3

The applicant had advised that the pumping station requires operational access for
intermittent maintenance visits, which may include in the future heavy plant capable of
lifting the pumping equipment from the below ground chamber to allow inspection and

Page 87

APPENDIX – ITEM 9
removal for off-site maintenance. Further, in the event of an equipment failure at the
pumping station a tanker would be parked in the layby to undertake emergency pumping of
wastewater in order to prevent potential adverse environmental impacts such as sewage
flooding and pollution. The layby has been designed to allow for the size of tanker that
would be required, with the layby size and shape dictated by the need to manoeuvre the
tanker safely off and on the main carriageway without creating a hazard. In the event that
emergency pumping is required, hoses will be in use and a safe access off the main
carriageway is necessary as hoses will be required to prevent a safety risk to users of the
highway and Thames Water personnel.
6.4

A preceding application for a layby was withdrawn in November 2019, ref: DC/19/2046.
Following this withdrawal the scheme was amended in order to reduce the extent of tree
and hedgerow loss, reduce any impact on the privacy of the neighbouring property to the
west and to propose a single layby (rather than two linked laybys).
Principle

6.5

Policy 24 of the HDPF advises that the District’s environment will be protected, including
maintaining or improving the quality of any watercourses; with Policy 39 of the HDPF aimed
at providing adequate infrastructure capacity to serve existing and new development.

6.6

As set out above, the proposed layby would provide access to a new wastewater pumping
station, which is integral to the new sewer rising main and an essential part of the
wastewater infrastructure serving the surrounding area; enabling treated effluent
discharges to the Baldhorns Brook to cease. The applicant, Thames Water has a legal
obligation under the Water Framework Directive to reduce phosphorus levels in the
waterbody to achieve Good waterbody status.

6.7

The proposed layby would contribute to the efficient servicing and ongoing maintenance of
this wastewater infrastructure, and would clearly represent an improvement over the
informal arrangement which currently exists at the site. The principle of the development is
considered to accord with the above policies, and is acceptable subject to detailed
considerations.
Character and appearance

6.8

Policy 25 of the HDPF states that the natural environment and landscape character of the
District will be protected. Policy 26 advises that outside built-up area boundaries, the rural
character and undeveloped nature of the countryside will be protected against
inappropriate development.

6.9

As part of the application two individual trees would be removed with partial removal of two
tree groups. The trees identified for removal are individually of low amenity value and do
not benefit from any statutory protection. Elsewhere on the site existing trees would be
retained wherever possible, with pruning where necessary, in order to provide natural
screening. As part of the application process discussions have taken place with the
applicant in order to improve the landscaping proposals being put forward, and to secure
replacement planting to compensate for lost trees and to provide enhanced visual
screening along the western boundary with a neighbouring residential property. The
amended planting proposals, which have significantly benefitted from advice by the
Council’s Landscape Officer, include a native hedgerow along the western boundary of the
proposed layby and pumping station with native woodland edge planting to the west of the
hedgerow.

6.10

It is considered that the presence of a layby along this section of highway would not result
in any demonstrable harm to the visual amenities of the locality, with the landscaping
scheme appropriate and sufficient to ensure any short views of the site are mitigated where

Page 88

APPENDIX – ITEM 9
necessary through additional and enhanced natural screening. The visual impact of the
proposal is therefore considered acceptable and would accord with the above policies.
Ecology / Biodiversity
6.11

Policy 31 of HDPF sets out that development proposals will be required to contribute to the
enhancement of existing biodiversity. Where felling of trees is necessary, replacement
planting with a suitable species will be required.

6.12

An Ecological Impact Assessment has been submitted with the planning application which
notes that the site comprises amenity grass and species poor hedgerows with some trees.
The site is considered to be of low ecological value with limited potential for any protected
species to be affected and is not subject to any nature conservation designations. The
assessment includes details of appropriate mitigation and implementation of best practice
measures and these would be secured through condition.

6.13

It is considered that the proposed development, subject to an appropriate condition, would
have no adverse impact on nature conservation, habitats or species and forms part of a
wider development that will contribute towards an improvement in water quality. The
proposed development is therefore considered to be in accordance with Policy 31 of the
HDPF.
Impact on Neighbouring Amenity

6.14

Policy 24 of the HDPF sets out that developments will be expected to minimise impacts on
residential amenity, including with respect to noise, odour, air and light pollution.

6.15

The proposals have been amended to minimise the extent of tree and vegetation clearance
and to maximise the extent of retained visual screening. The proposed lay-by will be at
ground level and the landscape planting proposals will provide visual screening along the
western boundary of the layby and pumping station to minimise any adverse impact to
visual amenity of nearby residential properties.

6.16

The applicant has advised that the pumping station would be visited approximately once
per month as part of its planned maintenance regime. In any case the use of the layby for
the parking of vehicles would not be expected to result in a degree of harm, by way of
noise, disturbance or privacy etc., which would be unacceptable or warrant a refusal of
planning permission, particularly given the existing informal arrangement which exists at
the site. The pumping station itself did not require planning permission and is not subject
of this application.

6.17

There are concerns expressed from residents that an open layby may be affected by flytipping and anti-social activities. The advice from the Highways Authority is that as the land
is within the statutory highways verge an application to stop-up the layby (i.e. to install
bollards such that the layby is available exclusively for Thames Water access) would not be
supported. It is considered that the layby would not facilitate or inevitably lead to an increase
in fly tipping, which is ultimately an illegal activity irrespective of any decision made on this
application. It is therefore considered that the risk of fly tipping, or any other illegal activity
on the site, would not be such that a refusal of planning permission could be justified. A
condition is though recommended to secure a scheme, such as signage, to discourage antisocial activities and this approach is considered acceptable to the scale and nature of the
scheme.

6.18

There are no existing drainage gullies along Lambs Green Road. The existing road slopes
downwards from north to south and runoff at present naturally drains into the verges on
both sides. The proposed layby will drain towards the existing carriageway and the natural
drainage of the existing road will be used. Permeable asphalt has been chosen to minimise

Page 89

APPENDIX – ITEM 9
the impact on the drainage of the existing road. The permeable lay-by is intended to act as
storage before runoff drains to the existing road rather than acting purely as a soakaway.
Highways Safety
6.19

Formal pre-application with the Highways Authority has been undertaken in respect of the
layby proposals and the advice received (ref: PRE-125-19) is included within the planning
application submission. The pre-application advice from the LHA advised that the proposed
site for the layby falls within the designated highway verge and an application to ‘stop-up’
the layby is not supported by the Highways Authority. For this reason, it is not proposed to
install bollards to prevent public access.

6.20

The Local Highways Authority was consulted and in responses dated 17th April and 15th
May it advised that this proposal would have not an unacceptable impact on highway
safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway network.
There are considered to be no reasons to take a different view and, accordingly, there are
no transport grounds to resist the proposal. The LHA have recommended an informative
should be applied to obtain all appropriate consents from West Sussex County Council to
cover the off-site highway works prior to commencement of works.
Conclusion

6.21

The development is considered to accord with relevant local and national planning policies
and is recommended for approval.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

It is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions Conditions:
1

List of approved plans

2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be begun
before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first use of any part of the development
hereby permitted details of measures to discourage anti-social activities such as fly
tipping and overnight parking shall have been submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority in writing. The measures shall be put in place prior to the first use
of the development and shall be retained as such thereafter.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies 32
and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

4

Regulatory Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in
strict accordance with the ecological mitigation and enhancement measures set out
in Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) Stantec-AMP6 Rusper Intermediate
Pumping Station Option4; dated 17.03.2020.
Reason: As these matters are fundamental to safeguard the ecology and biodiversity
of the area in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

Page 90

APPENDIX – ITEM 9
5

Regulatory Condition: The landscaping scheme, as set out on the approved
plans, shall be fully implemented in accordance with the approved details within the
first planting season following the first use of any part of the development hereby
permitted. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved landscaping, no trees
or hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted, felled/removed, topped
or lopped without the previous written consent of the Local Planning Authority until 5
years after completion of the development. Any proposed planting, which within a
period of 5 years, dies, is removed, or becomes seriously damaged or diseased
shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species
unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure the retention and maintenance of trees and vegetation on the
site unsuitable for permanent protection by Tree Preservation Order for a limited
period, in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

6

Regulatory Condition: No external lighting or floodlighting shall be installed other
than with the permission of the Local Planning Authority by way of formal
application.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality and in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

7

Regulatory Condition: No works relating to the construction of the development
hereby approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to
Fridays and 08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays and not at any time on
Sundays, Bank or public Holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with
Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

NOTES TO APPLICANT
WSCC Local Highway Authority:
The applicant is required to obtain all appropriate consents from West Sussex County
Council, as Highway Authority, to cover the off-site highway works. The applicant is
requested to contact the Implementation Team Leader (01243 642105) to commence this
process. The applicant is advised that it is an offence to undertake any works within the
highway prior to the agreement being in place.
Wildlife Protection
The applicant’s attention is drawn to the provisions of both the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981 and the Protection of Badgers Act 1992. Under these Acts, it is an offence to
intentionally or recklessly kill, disturb, damage or destroy a protected species or its habitat.
This includes but is not limited to wild birds, bats, badgers, dormice, reptiles and great
crested newts.
Birds
The applicant is advised that under Part 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
disturbance to nesting birds, their nests and eggs is a criminal offence. The nesting season
is normally taken as being from 1st March – 30th September. The developer should take
appropriate steps to ensure nesting birds, their nests and eggs are not disturbed and are
protected until such time as they have left the nest.

Page 91

APPENDIX – ITEM 9
Bats
The applicant is advised that it is an offence both to intentionally or recklessly destroy a bat
roost, regardless of whether the bat is in the roost at the time of inspection. All trees should
therefore be thoroughly checked for the existence of bat roosts prior to any works taking
place. If in doubt, the applicant is advised to contact the Bat Conservation Trust at
Quadrant House, 250 Kennington Lane, London, SE11 5RD, Tel: 0345 1300 228, email:
equiries@bats.org.uk, http://www.bats.org.uk/.

Background Papers: DC/20/0618

Page 92

09) DC/20/0618
Land at The Junction of East Street, Burnt House Lane and
Lambs Green Road; Rusper; West Sussex; RH12 4RG

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

¯

Moonrakers

Rutland
Lodge
LB
GP
GP
73.2m
LB

71.9m
Chowles Farm

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

19/11/2020

Page 93MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development

DATE:

1st December 2020

DEVELOPMENT:

Erection of enclosed bin stores and associated soft landscaping for Burtons
Court

SITE:

Burtons Court Park Way Horsham West Sussex

WARD:

Denne

APPLICATION:

DC/20/1226

APPLICANT:

Name: Horsham District Council Address: Parkside Chart Way Horsham West
Sussex RH12 1RL

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: The applicant is Horsham District Council
RECOMMENDATION:

1.

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.

1.1

DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION
The application proposes the erection of a bin store to accommodate 6no. 1100L
communal general waste bins for the use by residents of Burtons Court. The bin store is
required as a permanent bin storage solution for the flats since the new Piries Place Car
Park was constructed (previously bins were stores inside the old car park). The bin store
would replace an existing temporary bin storage arrangement, and would be located in the
‘gap’ between the two Burtons Court blocks, fronting onto Park Way.

1.2

The bin store (as revised) would be constructed in brick to match the existing Burton’s
Court facade, with a gently sloping sedum (green) roof. The store would measure a
maximum height of 2.7m, sloping down to 2.2m, and would have a curved design to its
north and south elevations. The store is proposed to have double gates (with key code
lock) in ‘Weldmesh’ fencing for residents and the Council’s collections operatives to
access. An access path would be located on the front (east facing) elevation, connecting to
the existing footway.

1.3

A scheme of planting and landscaping is proposed in the grounds surrounding the bin
store, including several climber plants (including ivy, honeysuckle and clematis), and other
shrub planting (including dogwood, and other ornamental shrubs and grasses), along with
2no small flowering trees. Low-level post and rail fencing (to match existing) would be used
to enclose the surrounding landscaped area.

Contact Officer: Angela Moore

Page 95

Tel: 01403 215288

1.4

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE
The site is located in Horsham Town Centre, and is adjacent to the newly constructed
Piries Place Car Park. The application site is located between the two ‘blocks’ that make up
Burtons Court, a residential building comprising 1 and 2-bed 33 flats. The site fronts onto
Park Way and is visible from this road. The site and surrounding land is owned by Horsham
District Council. The Burton’s Court flats are run by London Quadrant (a Housing
Association), who lease the land from HDC.

2.

INTRODUCTION

2.1

STATUTORY BACKGROUND
The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2.2

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019)
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF, 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Horsham Town Plan SPD (2007)
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2017)

2.3

RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Denne Neighbourhood Council forms part of the Horsham Blueprint Business
Neighbourhood Forum which is the designated body of the un-parished area of Horsham
Town. After its original designation in 2015, the Forum area was formally re-designated in
August 2020 and comprises representatives from Denne Neighbourhood Council, Forest
Neighbourhood Council and Trafalgar Neighbourhood Council. The Forum has recently
published a Regulation 16 (draft) plan which was subject to public consultation between
September and November 2020. Despite the publication of the Regulation 16 plan, the
plan has not yet undergone formal Examination and therefore limited weight can be
afforded to the Neighbourhood Planning process in this location at present.

2.4

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
DC/20/0656

Erection of enclosed bin stores and associated soft
landscaping for Burtons Court

Page 96

Application Withdrawn on
27.04.2020

DC/17/2511

3.

Demolition of existing car park deck and replacement
with new Ground floor + 4 deck (G+4) public car park
incorporating new lighting, electrical services and
new public conveniences. Parking spaces totalling
517no. including Accessible Bays, Parent and Child
Bays and Electric Vehicle charging bays. (Regulation
3 Application)

Application Permitted on
07.02.2018

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS
Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers
have had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the
public file at www.horsham.gov.uk. Where relevant, comments relating to the originally
submitted plans are provided, as well as subsequent comments received on the amended
plans received 02/11/2020.

3.1

INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS
HDC Landscape Architect: No Objection
[Subsequent Comments on Amended Plans]: The management and maintenance for soft
landscape to be for the duration, and included in management plan. Tree stakes/ties to be
checked and adjusted during maintenance inspections and removed two years after
planting. Condition suggested to require planting to be started as soon as possible or within
next growing season.
[Initial Comments on Original Plans]: The management plan and works specification
reference the old planting plans and not the revised ones. The Management &
Maintenance plan should include hard landscape such as the bin structure, gates and steel
trellis wires. Maintenance being HDC’s responsibility and for the lifetime of the
development to also be included.
HDC Environmental Health: No Objection
[Subsequent Comments on Amended Plans]: The revised bin store plans are satisfactory,
in particular the solid roof walls will limit the potential nuisance arising for the storage of the
waste bins. In order to avoid issues with odour, flies and vermin the applicant should be
advised provision should be made for regular cleaning of the bin store.
[Initial Comments on Original Plans]: Concern is raised regarding the potential for odour
and noise form the bin stores to impact the residential properties adjacent. Preference is for
the bin stores to be located away from residential properties, but if this the only available
location, it may be necessary to consider covering the bin store to minimise the escape of
odours etc. and requiring a management plan to ensure it is kept clean and tidy.
HDC Waste Collections: Comment
[Summary]: The bin provision is under the capacity of what is required for a building with 33
apartments (which requires 6 x 1100 litre refuse bins together with 7 x 1100 litre recycling
bins). Request for the kerb on Park Way (opposite the site) to be dropped to allow for the
bins to be moved by the Waste Collections crew.

3.2

OUTSIDE AGENCIES
WSCC Highways: No Objection
[Summary]: The location proposed for refuse vehicles to stop/collect the bins is near to a
signalised crossing in a town centre, where stop/start is common/expected. Forward
visibility has not been formally assessed, but the principle that it will be a refuse vehicle

Page 97

stopping (with flashing lights etc.) and knowledge that refuse trucks do stop, mitigates
against any inadequacies of forward visibility that may exist. In summary, there are no
unacceptable impact on highway safety and that it will not result in ‘severe’ cumulative
impacts on the operation of the highway network. A licence for the proposed dropped kerb
would be granted but this must be applied for by the applicant (informative wording
suggested). A condition is recommended to ensure the dropped kerb is not used for
vehicular access.
Denne Neighbourhood Council: No Objection
[Subsequent Comments on Amended Plans]: The amended plans show a big
improvement, and the fully enclosed store is welcomed. Queries/concerns include:
1. Light into the car park will be blocked, additional car park lighting may be needed.
2. Will the inside of the bin store be lit? Will it be sensor lighting?
3. The bins may be visible through the fencing, unattractive.
4. Can some bins in the bin store be used for recycling as well as refuse?
[Initial Comments on Original Plans]: The information provided is insufficient, and we do not
consider that the design of the proposed bin store is sufficiently safe or secure.
1. the storage area should be fully enclosed;
2. a robust roof is needed to prevent litter dropping/fire risk/vermin/antisocial behaviour;
3. the elevation illustrations are inaccurate;
4. the plans give no indication regarding ground levelling;
5. the property to the right of the proposed bin store would have their windows obscured;
6. conditions needed for landscape maintenance;
7. will the recycling bins remain in the alley off Park Way?

3.3

PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS
No representations received.

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
Background

6.1

The bins storage for Burton Court previously sat within the former Piries Place car park,
however since its redevelopment bin storage has been temporarily placed within the alley
way between Park Way and Park Place adjacent to the building. This arrangement is
unsightly and poses a health and safety risk to the public. The removal of the bins in this
location will be a benefit to both the appearance and health/safety of the publically
accessible alley way, as well as a benefit to the amenities of residents in flats immediately
adjacent.

Page 98

6.2

In order to resolve these issues and provide new permanent bin storage for Burton Court,
the applicants have given consideration to all options, including retaining bin storage within
the Park Place alley way, siting a new bin store in Park Place, re-introducing it into the new
car park, and a considering new location in the gap between the two buildings that form
Burton Court. The applicants have determined not to place the bins behind new screening
on Park Place as it would detract from the appearance of this street and the adjacent
Conservation Area. Use of parking bays within the car park has also been considered
however convenient and safe access for residents from Burtons Court to this location is
difficult, and the loss of a number of parking bays is not desirable to the applicant. There
are no alternative locations close to Burton Court, with all remaining space being small,
highly visible in the streetscene, and/or close to windows and footpaths along the site
frontage. The applicant has therefore settled on the current proposals for bins storage in
the recessed gap between the two buildings of Burtons Court.
Design and Appearance

6.3

The proposals have been significantly amended from the originally submitted plans to
overcome concerns over its appearance and amenity impacts. The proposed store now
includes a curved brick elevation with a gently sloping green roof above. Previously the
store was designed as an open-roof enclosure with hit-and-miss timber elevations.

6.4

The bin store has been designed for both practical purpose, and to mitigate amenity harm
as far as possible. The use of brick for the main walls will both assist with preventing
odours and vermin, and by using matching bricks to the existing Burton’s Court, will also
help the new structure to blend in with the main building. The solid brick structure and
lockable access gates will also prevent unauthorised access to the store. The green
(sedum) sloping roof will improve the visual appearance when viewed from above (i.e. from
flats on the first and second floors), and will complement the ivy planting at the car park
behind. The sedum roof has the benefit of offering some ecological value and effective
water storage/drainage. In addition to helping to improve the outlook for ground floor
residents, the curved walls helps to add interest to the design, and over time, the
associated ‘infill’ planting will mature and sit appropriately within the surrounding space.

6.5

The existing sloping ground is proposed to be levelled to provide a practical (level) ground
for bins to be wheeled in and out for collection. The levelling will involve a 1.1m retaining
wall to be included between the car park and the proposed store.
Landscaping and Management

6.6

The range of planting proposed will provide a pleasant range of heights and colours all year
round. The inclusion of climbing species (ivy, clematis etc) planted near the walls of the
store will grow over time and work to obscure the bin store from immediate view. The
climbing plants will be complimented by a range of low level shrubs/grasses as well as the
planting of 2x small flowering trees to either side of the store. The planting proposals and
specifications as a whole are acceptable, and will add to the quality and appearance of this
highly visible site. The management and maintenance of the landscaped areas will be the
responsibility of HDC as the landowner, and regular monitoring is required to take place in
line with the details contained within the submitted Landscape Management Plan.

6.7

As required by the Council’s Environmental Health Team, a Bin Store Management Plan is
required to be submitted, which details the process by which the bin store will be
checked/cleaned on a regular basis, and treated for vermin when necessary. The
management of the bin store will be the responsibility of HDC. A condition requiring a Bin
Store Management Plan has been drafted.

Page 99

Storage Capacity
6.8

The number of bins proposed (6x 1110L communal general waste bins) falls short of the
recommended need for the number of flats at Burton’s Court, albeit it matches the number
of bins currently being used (as evidenced by the 6x general waste bins informally located
in the Park Way alley way). Using the Council’s guidance, the 33 flats are calculated to
require 5x general waste bins, and 7x recycling bins (12x 1110L communal bins in total).
Additional bin storage therefore may be needed in the future in order to meet the full needs
of Burton Court, however this site cannot accommodate any more than the 6x bins
proposed. All 6x communal bins proposed are noted as for ‘waste’ only, therefore it is
suggested that 5 of these are provided for general waste (as per the guidance), and 1x bin
is provided for recycling to help encourage/enable this practice. A condition is
recommended to that effect.
Amenity Impacts

6.9

Given the proximity of the proposed bin store to residential flats and openable windows of
Burtons Court, neighbouring amenity (in particular noise, odour and outlook) is a key
consideration. In terms of outlook, it is acknowledged that the bin store would be positioned
close to the ground floor windows of adjacent flats, and as a result, the outlook of both
adjacent ground floor flat windows would be partially obscured and harmed. This harm will
need to be weighed up in the overall planning balance, including the benefits offered by the
proposed bin store in this location. In order to improve the outlook for the resident of this
flat, the architect has positioned the bin store as far from these windows as possible, and
has designed the store to include a curved feature at the corner which will help to soften
and widen the outlook from these windows. The proposed planting will mature to further
obscure and soften the view of the bin store.

6.10

The Council’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has been consulted with regard to noise
and odour impact. On the advice of the EHO, the amended plans now show the proposed
bin store to be fully enclosed with solid walls and roof (apart from the access gates), which
in the view of the EHO will limit potential nuisances including odour, noise, flies and vermin.
As a result of the amendments, the EHO has raised no objection to the proposed bin store
on amenity grounds, provided that a robust management and maintenance plan is
submitted which details how HDC will ensure the store is kept clean, tidy and pest-free.
The requirement for this has been drafted as a condition.
Access and Highways Impacts

6.11

The Council’s Waste Collections Supervisor has confirmed that the bins can be collected
by the collections team, via this location on Park Way. A request has been made for the
kerb immediately adjacent to the bin store site to be dropped, to enable the Collection
Operatives to wheel the large bins in and out without lifting them.

6.12

West Sussex County Council (as the Highways Authority) has reviewed the details
submitted pursuant to this application, and have confirmed that the site does not encroach
onto highways land, and would not therefore result in any significant harm in terms of
highways safety. The waste collections vehicles will be required to stop on Park Way to
collect the waste on a weekly basis. Forward visibility from this point is partly restricted by
the curved nature of the road plus the presence of a traffic sign may obstruct forward
visibility. However, given the expectation that refuse vehicles do stop/start and have
flashing lights etc. to warn other drivers, plus the 3-lane nature of the road in this location,
this is considered enough to mitigate against any inadequate forward visibility that may
occur. In summary, the Highways Authority are of the view that the collection arrangements
proposed are not considered to cause unacceptable impact in terms of highways safety.

Page 100

6.13

The Highways Authority has further confirmed that the dropped kerb required to wheel the
large bins form the store to the waste collection vehicles is supported in principle (and
would be granted), but note that the applicant is required to formally apply to WSCC for this
licence separately. An informative to the applicant has been drafted to that effect. The
Highways Authority has also recommended that a condition be applied to prevent the
dropped kerb being used for vehicular access, and this has also been drafted.
Conclusion

6.14

It is acknowledged that the location of the bin store will partially obscure a nearby window,
resulting in a level of harm with regard to the outlook of the resident of the ground floor flat
adjacent to the site. This harm has been mitigated as far as possible in the revised design,
but nevertheless weighs against the proposal. Given the enclosed design of the bin store,
Environmental Health officers have confirmed that no significant concern is raised with
regard to neighbouring amenity in terms of noise or odour impact, provided that a robust
Bin Store Management Plan is submitted to secure regular cleaning.

6.15

The proposed bin store will provide a purpose-built, enclosed, lockable and easily
accessible location for communal bins for the residents of Burton’s Court, which would
result in the removal of the poorly located and unsightly bins currently placed in the alley
way between Park Way and Park Place, and this benefit weighs in favour of the proposal.
The applicant has noted that the proposed location is the only viable option for a bin store
to serve the residents of Burton’s Court, and as such, taking the identified harm in account
and balancing this with the clear benefits of the proposal, the application is recommended
by Officers for approval.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

To grant planning permission, subject to the conditions listed below:

Conditions:
1. Plans list
2. Regulatory (Time) Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be begun
before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
3. Pre-Occupation Condition: The approved soft landscaping scheme (as shown on
Detailed Planting Plan reference LLD1907-LAN-DWG-200 Rev 02) shall be fully
implemented in accordance with the approved details (including the submitted
Landscape Works Specification, reference LLD-1907-LAN-SPE-001 Rev 01) as early
as possible, or within the first planting season following the first use of any part of the
development. Any proposed planting, which within a period of 5 years, dies, is
removed, or becomes seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next
planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning
Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape
and townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of
visual amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

Page 101

4. Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first use of any part of the development
hereby permitted, a Bin Store Management Plan shall have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, The Bin Store Management Plan
shall include details regarding the ongoing management and maintenance of the bin
store, including a regular cleaning/repair schedule and details of the responsible party,
and all operation of the bin store shall thereafter take place in accordance with the
approved Plan.
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the ongoing quality of the
development in the interests of neighbouring and visual amenity and in accordance
with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
5. Pre-Occupation Condition: Within one month of first use of the bin store hereby
permitted, the existing temporary bin store (located in the alley way between Park Way
and Park Place) and all associated fencing, shall have been removed, and the land
restored to its former condition.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of neighbours and local character in accordance
with Policies 32 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
6. Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first use of any part of the development
hereby permitted, details of all proposed internal lighting within the bin store shall have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details
shall include the location of the internal lights, and means by which the lights are
illuminated (sensory or manual switch).
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the site and surrounds in accordance with
Policies 32 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
7. Regulatory Condition: The materials and finishes of all new external walls, windows
and roofs of the development hereby permitted shall match in type, colour and texture
those of the existing building.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policy 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
8. Regulatory Condition: The ongoing management of the development hereby
permitted shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the submitted Landscape
Management Plan (Lizard, LLD1907-LAN-REP-001 Rev 02).
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development and in the interests of visual amenity
and nature conservation in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).
9. Regulatory Condition: The 6no. 1100L communal bins to be stored in the
development hereby approved, shall be divided into the provision of 5no. communal
bins for general waste (refuse), and 1no. communal bin for recycling.
Reason: To ensure the acceptable provision of refuse and recycling facilities in
accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
10. Regulatory Condition: The proposed dropped kerb located opposite the bin store
hereby approved shall only be used for the movement of bins by the Council’s Waste
Collection Operatives. The use of this dropped kerb shall not at any time be used as a
vehicular crossover.

Page 102

Reason: In the interests of road safety and in accordance with Policy 40 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
11. Regulatory Condition: No works for the implementation of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays
and 08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or
public Holidays
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Background Papers:
DC/20/1226

Page 103

This page is intentionally left blank

10) DC/20/1226

KS

Spire Court

70

TR

EE

T

Burtons Court, Park Way, Horsham, West Sussex

¯

a
Ch

ay
rt W

686
8a

PA
R

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public
1

51.5m

St Mark's Court

3

Envision House
5

4

13
LIN
GT
ON
RO
14
A

50

60

WE
L

RO
A

34

22

4 to

7

EW
RA
C
TE
R
K

to

69

PA
R

55

50

ES
T

RO
A
OT
EL

BA
RT
T

51
53

13

Bailey
House

5

Co
u rt
1t
o4
lo t
rtte

o3

Ba

1t

Ch

y
Bd

3

ED

1

36 b

urc
h

39
35
3133
to
Ris
37
32
41
i ng
TCB
34
36
Bo
l
l ar
EAS
38
d
T ST
47.3m
R EE
T
PH
40
42
48
6m
.
46

1

7

12

Pa
rk

Pa
rk

1

5

7
9
P la
ce
2
4
6

wa 1 to
yH 7
ou
se

10

9

5a
Ea
5b
st
Me
ws
3

4
2
1

10

13

Peel
House

D

oS9
t an
'
30a

4

1 to 9

5t

17
19 2

30

3

Posts

The
Courtyard
3

21

to

12

sW
ay
6 to
22

89

1
2

10

11

1
151to8
6

7

BA
RT
T

EL

OT

31

19 to 24

Ha
ll

PARK WAY

25 to 33

D

48

COPNALL WAY

SL

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

19/11/2020

MSA Number
Page 105

100023865

D

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee (North)

BY:

Head of Development

DATE:

1 December 2020

DEVELOPMENT:

Erection of an orangery to the rear.

SITE:

139 Churchill Way Broadbridge Heath Horsham West Sussex RH12 3TY

WARD:

Broadbridge Heath

APPLICATION:

DC/20/1724

APPLICANT:

Name: Mrs S Penne
RH12 3TY

Address: 139, Churchill Way Broadbridge Heath

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: As the application has been made by an officer of
the Council
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve planning permission, subject to appropriate conditions

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

The application seeks permission for the erection of a rear extension to this mid-terraced
property. The extension will measure some 3 metres in depth by 3.75 metres in width, with
an eaves height of 2.2 metres and a ridge height of 3 metres. The extension will have a
glazed pitched roof, with a brick plinth and glazing above, and doors to the rear elevation
which open out into the garden. The materials proposed are brick to match the existing brick
facing of the host property, with the uPVC double glazed windows, doors and roof being
finished in grey.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.3

The application site is situated between Churchill Way and the A264, within the built up area
boundary of Broadbridge Heath. The property is in a part of the close that consists of largely
terraced properties of a similar form and design. The application site contains a two storey,
mid terrace dwelling, with its front elevation facing north-east in the direction of the A264.
Boundary treatment around the rear of the property consists of close boarded timber fencing.

Contact Officer: Steve Astles

Page 107

Tel: 01403 215 174

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

2.2

The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:

2.3

National Planning Policy Framework

2.4

Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

2.5

Broadbridge Heath has not been designated as a Neighbourhood Plan area. There is no
‘made’ plan for the parish.
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS

2.6

The most recent and relevant planning history relating to this site is as follows:
DC/09/2101

Erection of 963 residential units, community facility
including land for a primary school, neighbourhood
centre, youth and recreational facilities, other formal
and informal open space, landscaping and
environmental works, transport and access
arrangements, new east-west link road, improvements
to Five-Oaks roundabout, realignment and partial
closure of existing A264 Broadbridge Heath by-pass
and other ancillary works (Outline)

Application
permitted on
03/10/2011

DC/14/2606

Reserved matters application for the development of 51
residential units, including 10 affordable housing units
(20%), the creation of public and private amenity space,
incidental public open space, internal circulation routes,
landscaping and associated works

Application
permitted on
28/05/2015

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk
CONSULTATION RESPONSES

3.2

The nature of the application did not require any consultations with statutory consultees
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.3

No comments received

Page 108

PARISH COUNCIL
3.4

Broadbridge Heath Parish Council: No comments received

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

6.1

The main issues are the principle of the development in the location and the effect of the
development on:
- The character of the development and the visual amenities of the street scene
- The amenities of the occupiers of adjoining properties

6.2

Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) states that development shall
be required to, inter alia, ensure it is designed to avoid unacceptable harm to the amenity of
occupiers/users of nearby property through, for example, overlooking or noise; ensure the
scale, massing and the appearance of the development is of a high standard of design and
relates sympathetically with the built surroundings and respects the character of the
surrounding area. In addition, where applicable, development must take account of relevant
design statements and use high standards of building materials.

6.3

Horsham Council’s Design Guidance Advice Leaflet No.1: House Extensions (dated May
2008) states inter alia that an extension should be of a scale which is sympathetic to and
does not overpower the original building.
Character and Appearance

6.4

The proposed orangery to the rear elevation of this mid-terraced property would be of a scale
and form that would be subservient to the main dwelling and which would not appear unduly
prominent or incongruous in views from the rear of the neighbouring properties or from the
wider streetscene. It is considered that the modest sized extension would not have a
significant impact on the character of the surrounding area. The visual impact of the proposal
is therefore considered acceptable and it is considered that the proposal complies with the
relevant policies of the HDPF.
Impact on Neighbouring Amenity

6.5

The proposed orangery would represent additional bulk and mass to the rear of the property
but would maintain a separation from the shared boundaries on each side (some 0.5m). The
rear elevation of the neighbouring dwelling to the south-east (no.141 Churchill Way) is set
further back than the host dwelling such that the proposed rear orangery would have a similar
aligned rear elevation. It is considered that the orangery as proposed would not be of a size
and scale which would result in unacceptable harm to the privacy and amenity of the
neighbouring occupiers, with it noted that the shared boundaries are denoted by close
boarded fencing. It is noted that no representations were received from neighbouring
occupiers. The impact of the proposal on the privacy and amenity of neighbouring occupiers

Page 109

is therefore considered acceptable and it is considered that the proposal complies with the
relevant policies of the HDPF.
Conclusion
6.6

The visual impact, and impact of the proposal on the privacy and amenity of neighbouring
occupiers is considered acceptable and it is considered that the proposal complies with the
relevant policies of the HDPF. It is therefore recommended that planning permission is
granted subject to the appropriate conditions.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

It is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions:
Conditions:
1.

List of approved plans

2.

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be begun before
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3.

Regulatory Condition: The materials and finishes to be used in the development
hereby permitted shall strictly accord with those indicated on the application form and
approved plans.
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail in
the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).

Background Papers: DC/20/1724

Page 110

11) DC/20/1724

E CL
O SE

LAN

AY
BUCK W

E

139 Churchill Way, Broadbridge Heath, Horsham, West Sussex,
RH12 3TY

SMITH ROAD
4

2
6

1

3

11

2

91

10
5

17

6

10

10

¯

2
STAPLES CL
OSE
3
1

L AN

6

I NG

1

7

HAR
D

12

8

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

125

11
3

to 1

11
9

35

1

143

5

121

14
5

18

151

4

62

15
3

AY
W

64
16
1

13

19

12

ER
M
S
EE 7
CH

2

58

72

Ponds

17

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

19/11/2020

MSA Number
Page 111

100023865

11

This page is intentionally left blank

